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Change in Format of This Year’s Annual Report

The format of this year’s Annual Report has been changed to a more simple ook as we prepare to transition to
electronic distribution of year-end information to shareholders. Most shareholders and investors obtain information
about CREDO on-line. We, therefore, have little demand for hard copy Annual Reports. Accordingly, the costs and
manpower for preparation and printing full color reports is no longer justified. The information provided will continue
to be thorough and substantive.

Corporate Profile

CREDOQ Petroleum Corporation is an independent oil and gas exploration and development company. CREDO
focuses on two core projects—natural gas drilling in the Northern Anadarko Basin and application of its patented
Calliope Gas Recovery System. The company operates primarily in the Mid-Continent Region of the United States,
with minor operations in the Rocky Mountain Region. CREDO owns working and royalty interests in approximately
1,400 wells and acts as the “operator” of approximately 108 wells.

Financial Data 2005 2004 Change
Income Per Share — Diluted $ .56 $ 39 44%
Revenues $ 13,957,000 $ 10,314,000 -35%
Working Capital $ 7,697,000 $ 5,611,000 37%
Debt $ 297,000 $ 355,000 -16%
Shareholders’ Equity $ 26,947,000 $ 20,920,000 29%
Total Assets $ 37,844,000 $ 30,976,000 22%
Common Shares Outstanding 9,510,000 9,510,000 —
Operations Data 2005 2004 Change
Production (Mcfge) 2,052,000 1,956,000 5%
Reserves:

Volume (Mcfge) 17,832,000 17,715,000 1%

Future Net Revenues $ 136,878,000 $ 77,612,000 76%

Future Net Revenues

Discounted at 10% $ 81,209,000 $ 44,551,000 82%

Acreage:

Gross Acres 350,000 365,000 -4%

Net Acres 59,000 53,000 11%

Forward Looking Statements

Forward-Looking Statements are made in this Annual Report to give the reader an indication of our business prospects,
plans and objectives, and include statements relating to, among other things, our business strategy, success of new
projects, expansion and growth of production and reserves, anticipated number of wells to be drilled, commencement
date of drilling, drilling costs, growth, benefits and success of Calliope and reserve targets. Although we believe these
statements are reasonable at this time, actual results, performance or achievements could differ materially from those
stated. Readers should refer to the risks involved in making these statements, which are given on page 2 of our

Form 10-K, contained herein.
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'CREDO PETROLEUM CORPORATION

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
To Be Held March 23, 2006

You are invited to attend or to be represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of CREDO Petroleum Corporation,
a Colorado corporation, to be held at the Brown Palace Hotel, 321 Seventeenth Street, Denver, Colorado 80202, on March 23, 2006 at
2:30 p.m., MST, for the purposes set forth below.

1. To elect two Class 1I directors to serve until the year 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

2. To ratify the appointment of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year 2006.

3. To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting and at all adjournments thereof.

Shareholders of record at the close of business on February 13, 2006 are entitled to vote at the meeting and at all adjournments
thereof. You are cordially invited to attend the meeting in person.

Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, it is important that you return your signed proxy. Your vote is important
regardless of the number of shares you own.

James T. Huffman
Chairmarn of the Board of Directors,
Chief Executive Officer and President

February 13, 2006
Denver, Colorado

PLEASE FILL IN, DATE AND SIGN THE ENCLOSED PROXY CARD AND RETURN IT PROMPTLY SO THAT YOUR
VOTE CAN BE RECORDED WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE MEETING. NO POSTAGE IS
REQUIRED IF MAILED IN THE UNITED STATES.

You May Revoke Your Proxy And Vote In Person
If You Attend The Meeting.




CREDO PETROLEUM CORPORATION

1801 Broadway, Suite 900, Denver, Colorado 80202

PROXY STATEMENT

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS, MARCH 23, 2006
GENERAL INFORMATION

Your proxy in the enclosed form is solicited by the Board of Directors of CREDQO Petroleum Corporation for use at the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be held on Thursday, March 23, 2006 at 2:30 p.m., MST, at the Brown Palace Hotel, 321 Seventeenth
Street, Denver, Colorado 80202, and at all adjournments thereof. These proxy materials were first mailed to shareholders on or about
February 21, 2006.

Only shareholders of record at the close of business on February 13, 2006 will be entitled to vote at the meeting. On that date,
there were 9,178,333 shares of common stock outstanding and entitled to vote, excluding 331,922 shares held in the Company’s
treasury.

All shares represented by properly executed, unrevoked proxies timely received in proper form will be voted in accordance with the
directions specified thereon. Any such proxy on which no direction is specified will be voted in favor of the election of the nominees
named herein to the Board of Directors and for ratification of the appointment of Hein & Associates LLP as the Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal 2006. In addition, all proxies will be voted in accordance with the judgment of
the proxy holder with respect to any other matter which may properly come before the meeting. Any shareholder giving a proxy may
revoke that proxy at any time before it is voted at the meeting by executing a later dated proxy, by voting by ballot at the meeting, or by
filing an instrument of revocation with the inspector of election.

The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report”), which includes audited financial statements, is being
mailed to shareholders of the Company simultaneously with this Proxy Statement. The Annual Report is not part of the Company’s
proxy soliciting materials. .

STOCK SPLIT

On September 13, 20035, the Company announced that its Board of Directors approved a three-for-two split of the Company’s
common stock. Shareholders of record as of the close of business on September 26, 2005 were issued a certificate representing one
additional share of the Company’s common stock for each two shares of common stock held on the record date. All share and per share
amounts in this proxy have been presented on a post-split basis.

VOTING SHARES AND PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

The $.10 par value common stock of the Company is the only class of capital stock outstanding. Each outstanding share of
common stock is entitled to one vote with respect to each matter to be voted on by the sharcholders, which vote may be given in person
or by proxy duly authorized in writing. Cumulative voting is not permitted. A quorum, being a majority of shares of outstanding
common stock, is necessary in order for business to be transacted at the meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes represented by
submitted proxies will be included in the calculation of the number of the shares present at the meeting for the purposes of determining
a quorum. “Broker non-votes” means shares held of record by a broker that are not voted because the broker has not received voting
instructions from the beneficial owner of the shares and either lacks or declines to exercise the authority to vote the shares in its
discretion.

Proposal One. Directors are elected by a plurality and the two nominees who receive the most votes will be elected. Proposal One
is considered a “routine” matter under NASDAQ rules and, accordingly, brokerage firms and nominees have the authority to vote their
customers’ unvoted shares on Proposal One if the customers have not furnished voting instructions within a specified period of time
prior to the Annual Meeting of Shareholders. Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be taken into account in determining the
outcome of the election.

Proposal Two. To be approved, this matter must receive the affirmative vote of the majority of the outstanding shares of
common stock present in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders and entitled to vote. Proposal Two is considered a
“routine” matter under NASDAQ rules and, accordingly, brokerage firms and nominees have the authority to vote their customers’
unvoted shares on Proposal Two if the customers have not furnished voting instructions within a specified period of time prior to the
Annual Meeting of Shareholders. Abstentions and broker non-votes represented by submitted proxies will have the effect of a negative
vote.




The only persons known to own of record or beneficially more than 5% of the Company’s common stock as of February 13, 2006
are set forth below.

Amount and Nature of Percent
Name and Address Beneficial Ownership of Class
James T. Huffman
6919 S. Steele Street
Centennial, Colorado 80122 1,353,555 14.6%
R. K. O’Connell
P.O. Box 2003
Casper, Wyoming 82602 556,428 6.1%

(1) Mr. Huffman is the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, President
and Chairman of the Board of Directors. Includes 404,406 shares
owned by members of Mr. Huffman’s family and 108,563 shares that
are related to options currently exercisable by Mr. Huffman.

(2) Includes 239,903 shares owned by members of Mr. O’Connell’s
family and by a corporation for which he serves as an officer.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
Election of Directors (Item 1 on Proxy Card)

The Articles of Incorporation, as amended, classify members of the Board of Directors into three classes having staggered terms of
three years each. The Board of Directors consists of six directors, including five independent directors, who have particular expertise in
areas considered essential to the Company’s business — namely geology, land, petroleum engineering, legal and accounting. The Board
of Directors has affirmatively determined that Clarence H. Brown, Oakley Hall, William F. Skewes, William N. Beach and Richard B.
Stevens, who comprise a majority of the Board of Directors, are “independent” directors in accordance with NASDAQ standards.

The directors to be elected to the Board of Directors in Class IT at the 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders will serve until the
2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and until their successors are duly elected and qualified. Class I and Class 111 directors will
continue to serve until the 2007 and 2008 Annual Meetings of Shareholders, respectively, and until their successors are duly elected and
qualified.

The Class II nominees named below are presently members of the Board of Directors. Unless your proxy contains contrary
instructions, it will be voted FOR the nominees. Should the nominees become unable to serve, which is not anticipated, the proxy will
vote for such substitute nominee as recommended by the Board of Directors. Any vacancy occurring in a class following the election of
that class may be filled by the Board of Directors. A director selected to fill a vacancy in a class will hold office for a term expiring at
the Annual Meeting of Shareholders at which the term of that class expires and until a successor is duly elected and qualified.

2.



The following table sets forth certain information with respect to each nominee and each director whose term of office will
continue after the meeting.

Information Concerning Director Nominees and Continuing Directors

Shares of Common
Stock Owned
Name, Age, Position with Business Experience and Directorships Beneficially and
Company and Term as Director in Other Public or Investment Companies Percent of Class™

CLASS II - NOMINEES FOR ELECTION AT THE 2006 ANNUAL MEETING
WHOSE TERMS WILL EXPIRE AT THE 2009 ANNUAL MEETING

James T. Huffman Mr. Huffman has been the Chairman of the Board of 1,353,555 14.6%P®
Age: 58; Chairman of the Board, Directors, Chief Executive Officer and President and Chief
Chief Executive Officer and Operating Officer of the Company since 1984,

President and Chief Operating
Officer; Director since 1978

Clarence H. Brown Mr. Brown has been an independent businessman and oil 91,080 1.0%%
Age: 71; Director since 2000 operator since December of 2000. From 1989 until December
of 2000, Mr. Brown was an Executive Vice President, Chief
Operating Officer and member of the Board of Directors for
Columbus Energy, Inc. Prior to 1989, Mr. Brown was the
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive
Officer of Kimbark Oil and Gas Company.

CLASS I - DIRECTORS WHOSE TERMS WILL EXPIRE AT THE 2007 ANNUAL MEETING

Oakley Hall Mr. Hall has been an independent businessman and investor 99,450 1.1%W
Age: 59; Director since 2000 since July of 2000. Previously Mr. Hall was an audit partner
with the accounting firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers.
William F. Skewes Mr. Skewes has been an attorney in private practice since 140,301 1.5%3
Age: 60; Director since 1980 April of 1988. From 1977 until April 1988, Mr. Skewes was a
partner in the Denver law firm of Kelly, Stansfield &
O’Donnell.
CLASS 111 - DIRECTORS WHOSE TERMS WILL EXPIRE AT THE 2008 ANNUAL MEETING
William N. Beach Mr. Beach has been an independent oil operator and President 193,950 | 2.1%3®
Age: 81; Director since 1980 of Beach Exploration, Inc. since 1975. Prior to that,

Mr. Beach was an independent oil and gas consultant and was
also employed by several oil and gas companies in various
geological capacities.

Richard B. Stevens Mr. Stevens has been an independent businessman and oil 382,104 4.2%3
Age: 76; Director since 1987 operator since July of 1987. From 1981 to July of 1987,
Mr. Stevens was President and a member of the Board of
Directors of SECO Energy Corporation.
All Directors and Officers as a Group (seven persons) 2,268,878 24.1%®

(1) Owned of record and beneficially unless otherwise indicated.
(2) Includes 404,406 shares owned by members of Mr. Huffman’s family.
(3) Includes the following shares subject to stock options which are
currently exercisable: Mr. Huffman-108,563 shares; Messrs. Beach,
Stevens, Skewes and Brown-29,250 shares each.
(4) Mr. Hall’s shares are held in the name of an entity he controls.
(5) Includes 35,200 shares owned by members of Mr. Beach’s family.
(6) Includes 234,001 shares subject to stock options which are currently exercisable.
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Information Concerning Other Executive Officers and Significant Employees

In addition to the directors and executive officer listed above, the following persons are executive officers or significant employees
as defined by Securities and Exchange Commission regulations.

Name Position Age Work Experience
David W. Vreeman  Vice President and 44  Prior to joining the Company, and from September 1998 until January 2005,
Chief Financial Mr. Vreeman was the Vice President-Controller for Birner Dental
Officer since Management Services, Inc. Mr. Vreeman has over 20 years of financial
January 2005 accounting and reporting experience in healthcare, manufacturing, oil and gas,

and public accounting. Mr. Vreeman is a certified public accountant in the

state of Colorado and is a member of the American Institute of Certified

Public Accountants and the Colorado Society of Certified Public Accountants.
Kenneth J. DeFehr Manager-Petroleum 56  Prior to joining the Company, and from 1982 until 1990, Mr. DeFehr was a

Engineering since Senior Reservoir Engineer for Axem Resources, Inc. Prior to that,
October 1990 Mr. DeFehr was a Reservoir Engineer for Phillips Petroleum Company.
Mr. DeFehr is a Registered Professional Engineer.
Torie A. Vandeven Manager-Geology 51 Prior to joining the Company and from 1997 to 1998, Ms. Vandeven was a
and Exploration Regional Geologist for Key Production Company. From 1995 to 1997,
since August 1999 Ms. Vandeven was a Senior Staff Geologist and from 1998 to 1999 a

Regional Exploitation Geologist for Amoco Production Company. Prior to
1995, Ms. Vandeven was a Senior Staff Geologist for Santa Fe Minerals,
Inc. Ms. Vandeven is a Certified Petroleum Geologist.

Information Concerning Meetings of the Board of Directors and Board Committees

The Board of Directors met four times during fiscal 2005. All directors were present at each of the meetings. It is Company policy
that Board members attend the Annual Meeting of Shareholders unless health, family or other important personal matters prohibit
such attendance. All members of the Board of Directors attended the Company’s 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

The Board of Directors has an Executive Committee consisting of Messrs. Hall, Huffman and Skewes. The Executive Committee
did not meet during fiscal 2005. There are no compensation or nominating committees because such matters are considered by the
Executive Committee or the entire Board of Directors. The Board of Directors believes that, due to their size and/or composition,
either body is capable and qualified to fulfill the function of a separate nominating committee or compensation committee. In
accordance with NASDAQ standards, compensation of the Chief Executive Officer is determined, or recommended to the Board for
determination, by a majority of the independent directors without the presence of the Chief Executive Officer during voting or
deliberations. Compensation of all other executive officers is determined, or recommended to the Board for determination, by a
majority of the independent directors.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors has three members: Mr. Hall, a CPA; Mr. Brown, a former oil company
executive; and Mr. Skewes, an attorney in private practice. Mr. Hall is a CPA and is a retired PricewaterhouseCoopers audit partner.
He is Chairman of the Audit Committee and is qualified as an “audit committee financial expert” under the applicable Securities and
Exchange Commission rules. Mr. Hall, Mr. Brown and Mr. Skewes are “independent” directors in accordance with NASDAQ
standards.

Compensation of and Agreements with Non-Employee Directors

Non-employee directors receive $2,000 plus reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses for each meeting of the Board of Directors
attended and may be paid $100 per hour for committee meeting attendance or for consulting services provided at the request of the
majority of the Board of Directors. During fiscal 2005, each non-employee director received compensation of $8,000.

Non-employee directors may also receive director compensation in the form of stock options granted under the Company’s Stock
Option Plan. The option exercise price is the price of the Company’s common stock on the option grant date. The options vest in one-
third increments beginning on the date of grant and then on each anniversary thereafter until fully vested. No stock options have been
granted to non-employee directors since June 13, 2003.

The Company has entered into indemnification agreements with each of its non-employee directors. Those agreements require the

Company to indemnify such directors to the fullest extent permitted by Colorado Law and to advance expenses in connection with
certain claims against the directors.

-4-



Consideration of Director Nominees

Shareholder Nominees

If a shareholder wishes to recommend a nominee for the Board of Directors, the shareholder should write to the Corporate
Secretary of the Company at:

CREDO Petroleum Corporation
1801 Broadway, Suite 900
Denver, Colorado 80202

Shareholders should specify the name and address of the nominee and the qualifications of such nominee for membership on the
Board of Directors. All such recommendations will be brought to the attention of the Company’s Board of Directors.

Evaluating Nominees for Director

Nominations for open positions on the Board of Directors may come from a variety of sources including business contacts of
current and former directors or officers, the use of a professional search firm selected by the Board of Directors and shareholder
nominations. In evaluating such nominations, the Board of Directors will seek to achieve a balance of knowledge, skills and experience
on the Board. Each nominee will be considered based on the need or desire to fill existing vacancies or expand the size of the Board and
otherwise to select nominees that best suit the Company’s needs.

Director Qualifications

Director candidates will be evaluated based on criteria developed by the Board of Directors from time to time for each individual
vacancy. Qualifications that will be considered for all nominees include, but are not limited to:

» the ability of the prospective nominee to represent the interests of the Company’s shareholders;
» the prospective nominee’s personal and professional experiences and expertise;
+ the prospective nominee’s standards of integrity, commitment and independence of thought and judgment; and

« the prospective nominee’s ability to dedicate sufficient time, energy and attention to the performance of his or her duties.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any of the Company’s previous filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that might incorporate future filings, including ihis Proxy Statement, in whole or in
part, the following reports of the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors acting as the Compensation Committee and the performance
graph included elsewhere in this Proxy Statement do not constitute soliciting material and should not be deemed filed or incorporated
by reference into any other Company filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent
the Company specifically incorporates the reporis or the performance graph by reference therein.

Audit Committee Report

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee are set forth in the Audit Committee Charter which has been adopted by the Board of
Directors. The Audit Committee also annually reviews its charter and reports to the Board of Directors on its performance. The
Company’s Audit Committee Charter is posted on the Company’s internet website (www.credopetroleum.com). In addition, a copy of
the Audit Committee Charter can be obtained from the Company, without charge, by written request to the Chief Financial Officer at
the Company’s address.

The Audit Committee met three times during fiscal 2005 and has met once since fiscal 2005 year-end. The Audit Committee
reviewed and discussed the Company’s audited financial statements for fiscal 2005 with management and the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm, and discussed with the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm the matters
required by Statement of Auditing Standards No. 61. The Committee has received from the independent registered public accounting
firm appropriate disclosures regarding their independence as required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1. Based on
these reviews and discussions, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the Company’s audited financial
statements for the year ended October 31, 2005 be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Submitted by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

Oakley Hall, Chairman
Clarence H. Brown
William F. Skewes




Report of the Board of Directors Acting as the Compensation Committee

Executive Compensation

The Board of Directors acting as the Compensation Committee (the “Compensation Committee”) is responsible for establishing
and administering a general compensation policy and program for the Company. The Compensation Committee also possesses all of the
powers of administration under the Company’s employee benefit plans, including the stock option plan, key employee retention plan
and other employee benefit plans. Subject to the provisions of those plans, the Compensation Committee must determine the
individuals eligible to participate in the plans, the extent of such participation and the terms and conditions under which benefits may
be vested, received or exercised. The Compensation Committee has furnished the following report on executive compensation for fiscal
2005.

The Compensation Committee is committed to a strong link between business performance and the attainment of strategic goals
with the Company’s compensation and benefit programs. The Company’s compensation policy is designed to support the overall
objective of maximizing the return to the Company’s shareholders by:

» Attracting, developing, rewarding, and retaining highly qualified and productive individuals.
+» Directly aligning compensation to both Company and individual performance.

+ Encouraging executive stock ownership to enhance a mutuality of interest with the Company’s shareholders.

This policy is intended to provide incentives that promote both the short-term and long-term financial objectives of the Company.
Base salary and performance bonuses are designed to reward achievement of short-term objectives while long-term incentive
compensation is intended to encourage executives to focus on the long-term goals of the Company.

The following is a description of the elements of executive compensation and how each relates to the objectives and policy outlined
above.

Base Salary

The Compensation Committee periodically reviews the base salary of each executive officer and certain other significant
employees. In determining appropriate salary levels, consideration is given to the level and scope of responsibility, experience, and
Company and individual performance.

Performance Bonuses

Cash bonuses are awarded to executive officers and other significant employees to recognize and reward Company and individual
performance. These performance bonuses are subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors and focus on performance criteria
including but not limited to: production volume, reserve replacement, finding costs, internal and external prospect generation and the
Company’s overall financial performance. Bonuses may also be awarded at the discretion of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer to
other employees whose efforts and performance are judged to be exceptional. The Company anticipates that future annual bonuses, if
any, will be determined at the end of each calendar year. The amount an individual may earn is directly dependent upon the individual’s
position, responsibility, and ability to impact the Company’s operating and/or financial success. External market data is reviewed
periodically to determine the competitiveness of the Company’s compensation arrangements for its executive officers and other
significant employees.

Long-Term Incentive Compensation

The purpose of the Company’s stock option plan is to provide an incentive to the executive officers and certain other significant
employees which correlates to the Company’s long-term goal of maxirnizing shareholder value. In an effort to tic the Company’s
executive officers’ and other significant employees’ long-term economic interests directly to those of the Company’s shareholders, the
Company utilizes it’s stock option plan 1o éncourage the Company’s executive officers and other significant employees to own and hold
the Company’s stock. The Company’s stock option plan uses vesting periods to encourage its executive officers and other significant
employees to continue in the employ of the Company. During 2005, the Compensation Committee did not grant any options to the
Company’s Named Executive Officer.

Other Benefits

The executive officers are entitled to the same benefits coverage as other employees such as health insurance, participation in the
Company’s 401 (K) plan and the reimbursement of ordinary and reasonable business expenses.

The Company does not currently offer any deferred compensation program, supplemental executive retirement plan or any
financial planning services for its executive officers.



Chief Executive Officer

The Compensation Committee (Mr. Huffman is not present during any voting or deliberations regarding his compensation)
believes Mr. Huffman has done an outstanding job of leading and managing the Company. During the past five years, the Company has
achieved significant annual increases in its production, reserves, revenue, net income and stock price appreciation. The Compensation
Committee believes that Mr. Huffman has positioned the Company to maintain its growth rate while expanding and diversifying the
volume and breadth of the Company’s business in terms of geography, capital requirements, risk and reserve potential. Based upon the
executive compensation criteria discussed above, the performance results of the Company in particular and when compared to
compensation levels of chief executive officers for companies of a similar size to the Company, the Compensation Committee believes
that Mr. Huffman’s total compensation package ranks at the low end of the compensation scale. While the Compensation Committee
believes that an increase in compensation is warranted for Mr. Huffman, he has declined significant increases. Cash compensation for
Mr. Huffman during 2005 consisted of his $135,000 base salary, which was established in 2004 and has remained at that level, and a
cash bonus of $65,000. Although the Compensation Committee did not award Mr. Huffman any equity-based incentives in 2005, it
may do so in the future to further align his financial interests with those of the Company’s shareholders.

Submitted by the Board of Directors acting as the Compensation Committee

James T. Huffman
Clarence H. Brown
Oakley Hall
William F. Skewes
William N. Beach
Richard B. Stevens

Executive Compensation

The following table sets forth the annual and long-term compensation received during each of the Company’s last three fiscal years
for services in all capacities by the Chief Executive Officer. No other executive officer of the Company had annual compensation
and/or long-term compensation, which when aggregated, was in excess of $100,000 for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2005.

Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation Long Term Compensation

Awards Payouts

Securities
Restricted Underlying
Other Annual Stock Options LTIP All Other

Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Compensation Award(s) (Shares) Payouts Compensation
James T. Huffman, 2005 $135,000 $65,000 $11,40010 - - - $101,8001%
Chief Executive 2004 $135,000 $45,000 $11,3000 - - - $ 98,2001
Officer 2003 $120,000 $50,000 $11,7000 - - - $ 80,2009

(1) Of this amount, approximatety 59% in 2005, 63% in 2004 and 50% in
2003 represents health insurance premiums.

(2) Of this amount, approximately 8% in 2005, 9% in 2004 and 11% in
2003 represents life insurance premiums, approximately 8% in 2005,
8% in 2004 and 8% in 2003 represents employer matching 401 (k)
Plan contributions. The remainder primarily represents payments
from oil and gas production.
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Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year
There were no grants of stock options to the named executive officer during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2005.

The following table provides information on the exercisability of opticns held by the named executive officer and the value of such
officer’s unexercised options at October 31, 2005. There were no option exercises by the named executive officer during this period. The
Company has not awarded any stock appreciation rights (SARs).

Aggregated Option/SAR Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year-End Option/SAR Values

Value of Unexercised

Number of Number of Unexercised In-the-Money Options/SARs
Shares Acquired  Value Options/SARs at FY-End at FY-EndV
Name on Exercise Realized  (Exercisable/Unexercisable) (Exercisable/Unexercisable)
James T. Huffman - - 108,563/0 $1,896,596/0

(1) Based on the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at
the close of business on October 31, 2005 ($17.47 per share) minus
the exercise price of the option.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The entire Board of Directors served as the Company’s Compensation Committee. No interlocking relationship exists between the
members of the Company’s Board of Directors or Compensation Committee and the board of directors or compensation committee of
any other company.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth information, as of October 31, 2005, with respect to the Company’s compensation plans under which
Common Stock is or was authorized for issuance and is outstanding.

Number of Securities

Number of Securities Remaining Available
to be Issued Upon Weighted-Average Per for Future Issuance
Exercise of Share Exercise Price of Under the Equity
Outstanding Options Outstanding Options Compensation Plan(s)
Plan Category (a) (b) (c)

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 485,064 $5.78 109,995
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders ' -

Total 485,064

&9
(¥
]
o0

109,995

(1) Excluding securities reflected in column (a).

Key Employee Retention Plan

The Company has established a Key Employee Retention Plan (the “Plan’) for certain of its employees including the officer
named in the Summary Compensation Table. The purpose of the Plan is to provide a bonus incentive to certain key employees to
remain in the employ of the Company during periods when there is a potential for a change in control of the Company. Employees who
are participants in the Plan are entitled to receive qualified payments equal to, a minimum of, the greater of their monthly base salary

" times their years of service with the Company or their monthly base salary times 24 months in the event that their employment is

terminated within two years after a change in control of the Company (a) without “cause” by the new controlling party or (b) for
“good reason” by the employee (e.g. an adverse change in the officer’s status after a change in control), each as defined in the
agreement. In addition, all insurance and fringe benefits will be provided for a period equal to the greater of one month of coverage for
each year of employment with the Company or 24 months of coverage.

A change in control is defined to include (i) any person or group becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly of 30% or
more of the outstanding voting stock of the Company, (ii) the stockholders of the Company approve a merger, combination or
consolidation of the Company with any other entity resulting in the voting securities of the Company immediately prior to the
transaction representing less than 51% of the merged, combined or consolidated securities, (iii) any transaction (or combination of
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transactions) is consummated for the sale, disposition or liquidation of at least 50% of the company’s net assets, or (iv) election of one-
third of the member’s of the Company’s Board of Directors proposed by any party or group nominating directors in opposition to the
directors nominated for election by the Company.

Performance Graph

The following performance graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on the Company’s common stock for the five-
year period ended October 31, 2005 with the cumulative total return of the AMEX Oil and Gas Index, and the Standard & Poor’s 500
Stock Index. The identities of the companies included in the index will be provided upon request.

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
Assumes Initial Investment of $100
October 2005
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=4— CREDO PETROLEUM == S&P 500 Index - Total Return —— AMEX Oil and Gas Index
October 31,
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
CREDO Petroleum Corporation $100.00 $70.90 $110.22 $285.73  $341.69 $650.73
AMEX OQil and Gas 100.00 97.90 82.89 94.49 134.07 189.96
Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index 100.00 74.14 61.97 73.51 79.07 84.44

SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
(Item 2 on Proxy Card)

The Board of Directors has appointed, subject to ratification by the shareholders, Hein & Associates LLP as the Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal 2006. Representatives of Hein & Associates LLP will be present at the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to make any statement they so desire and to answer appropriate shareholder questions.

In the absence of contrary instructions by a shareholder, the shares represented by the proxy will be voted FOR the ratification of
the appointment of Hein & Associates LLP as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal 2006.

Audit Fees

The aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered by Hein & Associates LLP for its audit of the Company’s annual
financial statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K and its reviews of the financial statements included in
the Company’s Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q were $90,000 and $51,400 for fiscal 2005 and 2004 respectively.
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Audit Related Fees

The aggregate fees billed for assurance and related services by Hein & Associates LLP totaled $3,150 and $1,800 in fiscal 2005
and 2004, respectively.

Tax Fees

Hein & Associates LLP provided no tax services to the Company during fiscal 2005 and 2004.

All Other Fees

Hein & Associates LLP provided no services during fiscal 2005 and 2004 other than the services described above.

Policies and Procedures for Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services

The Audit Committee pre-approves estimates of audit and non-audit services expected to be performed by Hein & Associates
LLP in any fiscal year. In addition, the Audit Committee has delegated authority to its Chairman to pre-approve additional audit and
non-audit services by Hein & Associates LLP, and ensures that the independent registered public accounting firm shall not be engaged
to perform the specific non-audit services that are prohibited by law or regulation. The Audit Committee Chairman must report the
amount of any such additional pre-approved services at the next scheduled Audit Committee meeting. The Audit Committee pre-
approved 100% of Hein & Associates LLP fees for audit and non-audit services in fiscal 2005 and 2004. There were no hours expended
on the Hein & Associates LLP audit of the Company’s most recent financial statements by persons other than Hein & Associates
LLP’s full-time, permanent employees.

The Audit Committee has concluded that services rendered by Hein & Associates LLP and the related fees paid to Hein &
Associates LLP are compatible with maintaining Hein & Associates LLP’s independence.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR this proposal and will be governed by the decision of a majority of shares voting.

CODE OF ETHICS

The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to, among others, its principal executive, financial and accounting officers,
and other persons, if any, performing similar functions. The Company’s Code of Ethics is posted on the Company’s Internet website
(www.credopetroleum.com). In addition, a copy of the Code of Ethics can be obtained from the Company, without charge, by written
request to the Chief Financial Officer at the Company’s address.

MANNER AND EXPENSES OF SOLICITATION

Solicitation of proxies will be by mail. The total expenses of such solicitation will be borne by the Company and will include
reimbursement of brokerage firms and others for their expenses in forwarding solicitation material regarding the meeting to beneficial
owners. Solicitation of proxies may be made by telephone or oral communication by regular employees of the Company who will not be
directly compensated. In addition, the Company may employ a proxy solicitor. Costs of a proxy solicitor, if any, will be paid by the
Company and will not exceed $100,000.

SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Company’s directors and executive officers to file initial reports of ownership and
reports of changes in ownership of the Company’s common stock with the Savings and Exchange Commission. Such persons are
required to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) forms that they file. Based upon a review of these filings and written
representations by such persons, the Company believes that its directors and executive officers were in compliance with these
requirements during fiscal 2003.

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR NEXT ANNUAL MEETING
AND SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Any proposal which a shareholder intends to present for consideration and action at the next Annual Meeting of Shareholders
must be received in writing by the Company no later than October 16, 2006 and must conform to applicable Securities and Exchange
Commission rules and regulations. If a shareholder does not seek inclusion of a proposal in the proxy material and submits the proposal
outside the process described in Rule 14a-8 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the proposal must be
received by the Company’s Secretary on or before December 31, 2006. If the proposal is not received by that date, the Board of
Directors will be allowed to use its discretionary voting authority as to the proposal when it is raised at the Annual Meeting of
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Shareholders. Nothing in this paragraph shall be deemed to require the Company to permit presentation of a shareholder proposal, or to
include in the Company’s proxy materials relating to the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, any shareholder proposal that does not
meet all of the requirements for presentation or inclusion established by the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission in
effect at that date.

The Board of Directors attends each Annual Meeting and the individual directors are available to answer appropriate questions.
Appropriate questions generally relate to the Board’s responsibility to establish overall policy and direction for the Company, its
responsibility to retain and evaluate management, and its responsibilities related to certain functions related to the Audit Committee. In
the past five years, the Company has not received any formal shareholder communications addressed to the Board of Directors or its
members. Shareholders may send communications to the Board of Directors addressed to the attention of the Chairman of the
Executive Committee of the Board of Directors at the Company’s business address. The Chairman of the Executive Committee will log
and retain all such communications. Those communications that the Chairman, in his sole judgment, believes are (i) within the scope
of the Board of Directors’ responsibility, (ii) credible, and (iii) material, or potentially material, will be presented to the full Board of
Directors at its next succeeding regular quarterly meeting. The Board of Directors will then determine, in its sole judgment, whether a
response is appropriate.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Set forth below is a description of transactions entered into between the Company and one of its directors during the last fiscal
year. This transaction will continue in effect and may result in conflicts between the Company and this individual. Although this person
owes fiduciary duties to the Company and its stockholders, there is no assurance that conflicts of interest will always be resolved in
favor of the Company.

William N. Beach, a director of the Company since 1980, has a 5% ownership interest in Fortuna Energy, LLC and his son is &
principal and minority interest owner in an unrelated entity which also has an ownership interest in Fortuna Energy, LLC. Fortuna
Energy is a joint venture of the Company and was formed for oil and gas exploration in South Texas. As the managing member of
Fortuna, the Company incurs costs on behalf of Fortuna and either advance bills or re-bills each Member its proportionate share of
such costs. During fiscal 2005, the Company received approximately $75,000 from Mr. Beach as payment for his share of costs
incurred. The Company’s Board of Directors, with Mr. Beach’s abstention, approved his participation in Fortuna. All transaction
entered into by Fortuna are initiated by the Company as the managing member of Fortuna.

OTHER MATTERS

The Company does not know of any matters other than the election of directors and the ratification of the Company’s independent
registered accounting firm to be brought before the Annual Meeting of Shareholders. If any other matters not mentioned in this proxy
statement are properly brought before the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, the individual named in the enclosed proxy will use their
discretionary voting authority under the proxy to vote the proxy in accordance with their best judgment on those matters.

HOUSEHOLDING INFORMATION

The Security and Exchange Commission permits companies and intermediaries (such as brokers and banks) to satisfy delivery
requirements for proxy statements and annual reports with respect to two or more stockholders sharing the same address by delivering a
single proxy statement and annual report to those stockholders. This process, which is commonly referred to as “householding,” is
intended to reduce the volume of duplicate information stockholders receive and also reduce expenses for companies. While the
Company does not utilize householding, some intermediaries may be “householding” our proxy materials and annual report. Once you
have received notice from your broker or another intermediary that they will be householding materials to your address, householding
will continue until you are notified otherwise or until you revoke your consent. If you hold your shares through an intermediary that sent
a single proxy statement and annual report to multiple stockholders in your household, we will promptly deliver a separate copy of each
of these documents to you if you send a written request to us at our address appearing on the first page of this proxy statement to the
attention of the Corporate Secretary. If you hold your shares through an intermediary that is utilizing householding and you want to
receive separate copies of our annual report and proxy statement in the future, you should contact your bank, broker or other nominee
record holder.
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Report to Shareholders

1 am pleased to report that we had another excellent year, setting new records in
virtually every financial and operating category. This year's return on equity was
25 percent without using leverage. The highlight of 2005 was the implementation
of decisions regarding new projects designed to broaden and diversify our
company and to sustain its rapid growth rate.

Exceptional Performance

For fiscal 2005, earnings rose 43 percent on a 35 percent increase in revenues.
Cash flow (before changes in operating assets and liabilities) increased 30 percent.
Reserves rose to a new record for the 12th consecutive year, and we achieved
record production for the fifth consecutive year.

CREDO’s performance in 2005 extends our record of exceptional achievement. This record has gained CREDO
recognition as one of America’s best and fastest growing small companies, as well as an outstanding performer
among U.S. oil and gas companies ( Forbes magazine, Fortune Small Business Magazine and John S. Herold, Inc.).

We accomplished this by successfuily meeting the challenge of increasing production in order to reap the benefit of
higher oil and gas prices. Set forth below are five-year performance statistics for certain key operating and financial
areas of our business.

Five Year
Average
e  Production increase 25%
» Reserve increase 17%
¢ Revenue increase 46%
¢ Net income increase 58%

The performance of CREDO's stock price has also been exceptional. CREDQ's stock price increased 550 percent during
the five years ended October 31, 2005, ranking it as one of the top performers in our industry.

Achieving Our Goals

We operate CREDO with three basic goals, each of which is grounded on properly managing our costs and risks. These
goals are prioritized as shown below.

e« Make a profit that will provide an excellent
return on the shareholders’ investment

s Increase production volumes

¢ Replace produced reserves and
increase the reserve base

To achieve our goals, we focus on both the drill bit and on application of our patented Calliope Gas Recovery System.
Successful drilling is the engine behind sharp increases in production. Calliope is the engine that provides stable, long-lived
reserves at a moderate cost and low risk. Together, drilling and Calliope offer a superb and unique formula for success.

A history of achieving our goals makes us confident that our business strategy is sound and that we can execute it
effectively.
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We emphasize rigorous attention to science and fundamentals. I have said before that we do not manage CREDO as
a “boom or bust” commodity play. We have given ourselves the managerial freedom to focus on fundamentals and
to take a long-term view rather than being encumbered by quarter-to-quarter performance pressures.

The people who are responsible for CREDO’s past performance will take us into the future. Their record speaks for itself.
They are an extraordinary team who are masters of their disciplines and who treat this company as their own. And
importantly, they take great pleasure in thinking out-of-the-box.

Your management and Board of Directors own almost 25 percent of the company. The value of our CREDO ownership
is significant to each of us, and that goes a long way toward aligning our interest with your interest.

New Projects for Growth

Qur vision is for a bigger company with more muscle to achieve our objectives. My job, and that of our directors, is to
ensure that our vision is backed by projects that provide excellent growth potential.

In recent years, we have made a number of strategic decisions designed to sustain CREDO’s growth rate. We concluded
that both the volume and the breadth of our business must be expanded and diversified. We chose to diversify
geographically and scientifically, as well as in terms of capital requirements, risks and reserve potential. To accomplish
this, we have added personnel who are experts in their area and who have proven records of success.

We begin 2006 with four new projects. These projects were initiated last year, and we anticipate that each will begin to
bear fruit this year.

e South Texas Drilling

e  North Central Kansas Drilling

o Calliope Joint Ventures

o Drilling Wells and Using Calliope
to Recover the Gas

Drilling Activities

Oklahoma—The northern shelf of the Anadarko Basin in Oklahoma has been CREDQ's core drilling region for the

past five years. Our company owns interests in 60,000 gross acres on the shelf and a total of 73,000 gross acres in
Oklahoma. Drilling generally targets the Morrow and Chester formations at 7,000 to 10,000 feet. During 2005, CREDO
drilled 12 wells in Oklahoma with working interests ranging up to 69%. Ten of the wells were completed as producers.

The Anadarko shelf will continue to be a core area for the company, and an important source of production and reserve
additions.

Central Kansas Uplift—During 2005, we took a significant step to diversify our exploration by acquiring a 30 percent
interest in 20,000 gross acres along the Central Kansas Uplift. Drilling will target the Lansing-Kansas City formation

at 4,000 feet. This project is an excellent supplement to our Oklahoma drilling. Together, the Oklahoma and Kansas
drilling programs are expected to replace the company’s production in each of the next three to five years, and to
provide moderate growth in both production and reserves,

Our acreage is located in a prolific producing area where 3-D seismic has recently proven to be an effective exploration
tool. Higher oil prices have justified using 3-D seismic technology to locate undrilled structures that are very difficult to
find with old technology.

The Kansas project provides diversification to our drilling program both geographically and scientifically through the use
of 3-D seismic. It also exclusively targets oil reserves which will help bring better product balance to our reserve base.
We estimate that up to 50 wells will be drilled on this acreage at a cost of about $300,000 each. Reserves are estimated
to average 50,000 barrels of oil for successful wells. Drilling is expected to commence in the second quarter.
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South Texas—During 2005, we also commenced a new exploration project in South Texas. This is a very important
project because it provides the opportunity to take a giant step forward in terms of building vatue for our company.

This project has far greater per well production and reserve potential than our core drilling projects. However, it also
carries @ much higher cost and greater risk.

In return for a 37.5 percent interest, we committed $1,500,000 for prospect generation and leasing costs. CREDO has
the option to participate in each prospect for all, or a portion, of its interest. If we do not participate for the full interest,
the remaining amount will be sold to industry participants on a promoted basis.

This project uses 3-D seismic to define prospects in Hidalgo and Jim Hogg counties. Acquisition is complete on
four prospects ranging in-depth from 10,000 to 15,000 feet. The 8/8ths cost to drill and complete a test well on all
of the four prospects wiil total approximately $16,000,000.

Both the cost and the potential of this project far exceed anything we have done before. For example, the Esparza
prospect has reserve potential up to 45 Bcfe (billion cubic feet of gas equivalent). It is on the same structural closure
and is adjacent to a two-well field that has produced 30 Bcf (billion cubic feet of gas) and 1,500,000 barrels of it from
sands at 12,500 feet. The prospect also targets productive sands at 15,000 feet that are behind pipe in the adjacent
field.

The good news is that Esparza is a very high quality prospect targeting large reserve potential. However, the rest of the
story is that the cost to drill and complete a 15,000-foot test well is about $6,500,000. If CREDO elects to participate for
its full 37.5 percent interest, our cost will be about $2,400,000. ‘

We are completing an independent evaluation of the first four prospacts, and will make a final decision about CREDO’s
drilting participation when the results are available. We are leaning toward more rather than less participation because
we believe in the people, the science, and the potential for a significant positive impact on our company. Drilling is
expected to begin in the second quarter depending on rig availability. Other prospects are in various stages

of generation and leasing.

Calliope Activities

Differentiation Through Proprietary Technology—Calliope is a proprietary, breakthrough technology that
differentiates CREDO from our peers. Our Calliope team has done a remarkable job of inventing, patenting and refining
Calliope, and then building an impressive track record. Calliope has proven to be reliable and extremely flexible over a
wide range of applications. We are confident in Calliope’s future because of its success and the enormous opportunity
for repeatability.

Purchased Wells—Calliope systems are currently installed on 17 wells that are owned and operated by CREDO.
These wells range in depth from 6,500 to 18,400 feet. They represent the most rigorous applications for Caltiope
because the wells were either totally dead or uneconomic at the tima Calliope was installed. Initial production rates
range up to 650 Mcfd (thousand cubic feet of gas per day) and average per well Calliope reserves for non-prototype
wells are estimated to be 1.10 Bcf.

One of our early Calliope installations has now produced almost a billion cubic feet of gas. The 1.C. Carroll well was a
rigorous test for Calliope because it had been dead for about six years and because a previous operator tried to plug-off
the producing formation with a polymer in order to attempt a deeper zone re-completion. Calliope met the challenge by
immediately restoring daily production to over 600 Mcf. Cumulative Calliope production approaching 1.0 Bcf now speaks
for itself.

During 2005, we successfully expanded our Calliope operations into Texas with two recent installations and into
Louisiana with the purchase of a Calliope candidate well. These are very fertile areas for Calliope, and we will
continue to expand as opportunities ailow.
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Joint Ventures With Third Parties—In an effort to increase the number of Calliope installations, we are seeking
joint ventures with larger companies. Presentations have been made to a select group of companies, including majors
and large independents. All of the companies have expressed a keen interest in Calliope and joint venture discussions
are continuing with a number of the companies, including evaluation of candidate wells.

The joint venture negotiation process is tedious because there are many decision points and obstacles within large
companies that cause delay after delay. Nevertheless, I am hopeful that 2006 will witness a breakthrough in the joint
venture area.

Drilling Wells and Using Calliope to Recover the Gas—Higher gas prices have facilitated the launch of a third
project to increase the number of Calliope installations. The project involves drilling wells into low-pressure reservoirs,
including abandoned fields, and then using Calliope to recover the stranded gas. This is a fertile area for use of Calliope
because there are many abandoned fields that contain substantial remaining gas reserves.

We view this as a “resource play” similar to the shale plays that are proliferating around the U.S. because of the
identifiable resource and the potential scale. The difference is that we can accurately estimate the reserve potential
for each well, and we know the reservoir production characteristics. This makes drilling Calliope wells very attractive
as a resource play.

This project should give us more control over monetizing Calliope’s value by substantially increasing the number of
Calliope installations. It will also allow us to maximize production rates and optimize performance. For example,
production from many of our existing applications on purchased wells is restricted by small tubulars in the wellbore.
By drilling new wells, we can install larger tubulars to substantially increase production rates compared to our existing
applications.

The cost of drilling an average 10,000-foot well for Calliope is estimated to be $2,200,000, including installation of a
Calliope system. Our reserve target is 1.5 to 2.0 Bcf per well. Drilling is expected to commence in mid-2006. In order
to accelerate the project, we may include an industry participant.

A Promising Outlook for Our Company

I have never been more enthusiastic about CREDQO’s future. Our history of successfully achieving our goals gives us
confidence in our business plan and our ability to execute it. We will remain focused on the business principles that
have brought us to this point—a long term approach grounded in rigorous attention to science and sound business
practices.

We enter 2006 with four new projects that will significantly expand and diversify our business. Two of the projects will
buttress our priority of replacing reserves and providing sustained growth. The other two projects—South Texas and
Calliope drilling—provide enormous upside potential for growth. We look forward to seeing these projects begin to bear
fruit in 2006.

Our overriding objective is for CREDO to be an exceptional performer while continuing its rapid pace of growth. I am
confident that we will achieve that objective. As always, we appreciate your support and your confidence.

James T. Huffman
President
January 14, 2006
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Pursuant to instruction G (3) to Form 10-K, Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 are omitted because
the company will file a definitive proxy statement (the "Proxy Statement") pursuant to
Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year. The information required by such items will be included in the
Proxy Statement to be so filed for the company's annual meeting of shareholders to be held on
or about March 23, 2006 and is hereby incorporated by reference.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the company uses the term “cash flow from operating
activities (before changes in operating assets and liabilities)" which is considered a
non-GAAP financial measure as defined in SEC Regulation S-K Item 10 and should not be
considered in isclation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance
with GAAP. See Item 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations for a definition of this measure as used in this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes certain statements that may be deemed to be
"forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 272 of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, and Secticon 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 2all
statements included in this Amnual Report on Form 10-K, other than statements of historical
facts, address matters that the company reasonably expects, believes or anticipates will or
may occur in the future. Forward-looking statements may relate to, among other things:

® the company’'s future financial position, including working capital and
anticipated cash flow;

amounts and nature of future capital expenditures;

operating costs and other expenses;

wells to be drilled or reworked;

0il and natural gas prices and demand;

existing fields, wells and prospects;

diversification of exploratiomn;

estimates of proved oil and natural gas reserves;

reserve potential;

development and drilling potential;

expansion and other development trends in the oil and natural gas industry;
the company’s business strategy;

production of oil and natural gas;

matters related to the Calliope Gas Recovery System;

effects of federal, state and local regulation;

insurance coverage;

employee relations;

investment strategy and risk; and

expansion and growth of the company’s business and operations.




Although the company believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking
statements are reascnable, it can give no assurance that such expectations will prove to be
correct. Disclosure of important factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from the company’s expectations, or cautionary statements, are included under
"Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Annual Report on 10-K, including, without limitation, in
conjunction with the forward-looking statements. The following factors, among others that
could cause actual results to differ materially from the company’s expectations, include:

unexpected changes in business or economic ccnditions;

significant changes in natural gas and oil prices;

timing and amount of production;

unanticipated down-hole mechanical problems in wells or problems related to
producing reservoirs or infrastructure;

changes in overhead costs;

e material events resulting in changes in estimates; and

e competitive factors.

All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made. All subsequent written and
oral forward-locking statements attributable to the company, or persons acting on the
company’s behalf, are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements.
Except as required by law, the company undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking
statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which it is made or to reflect
the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events or circumstances.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

CREDO Petroleum Corporation ("CREDO") was incorporated in Colorado in 1978. CREDO and its
wholly owned subsidiaries, SECO Energy Corporation and United 0il Corporation ("SECO",
"United" and collectively "the company"), are Denver, Colorado based independent oil and gas
companies which engage primarily in oil and gas exploration, development and production
activities in the Mid-Continent region of the United States. The company has operating
activities in nine states and has twelve employees. CREDO is an active operator in Kansas,
Wyoming, Colorado and Texas. United is an active operator doing business primarily in
Oklahoma, and SECO primarily owns royalty interests in the Rocky Mountain region. References
to years as used in this report indicate fiscal years ended October 31.

The company effected a three-for-two stock split in each of fiscal 2005 and 2004. All share
and per share amounts discussed and disclosed in this Annual Repcrt on Form 10-K reflect the
effect of these stock splits. In addition, the company effected a 20% stock dividend in
fiscal 2003.

Buginegse Activities

During 2005, the company made important strategic decisions and commitments to new projects
designed to sustain the company's growth rate by expanding and diversifying its business,
both technically and geographically. These new projects will also diversify the capital
exposure, risk and reserve potential of the company’s drilling activities. This includes
approximately equal commitments to conventional drilling and to the company's patented
Calliope Gas Recovery System ("Calliope") operations.

The company's goal is to create steady growth by adding production and long-lived reserves at
reasonable costs and risks. The strategy employed by the company to achieve this goal
involves conventional drilling and increasing the number of Calliope installations.

Historically, the company's primary drilling focus has been on the shelf of the Northern
Anadarko Basin of Oklahoma. The company will continue generating prospects and drilling on
this acreage concentrating on medium depth properties generally ranging from 7,000 to
10,000 feet. Third party industry participants are involved in most of the company's
operating activities.

During 2005, the company significantly expanded both the volume and breadth of its
exploration program with new projects in South Texas and north-central Kansas. Compared to
drilling in Oklahoma, the South Texas project involves higher costs and greater risks but
significantly higher per well reserve potential. The South Texas project is 3-D seismic
driven with well depths ranging from 10,000 to 15,500 feet. The north-central Kansas project
is geared to c¢il exploration and has excellent potential to add significant reserves at
moderate costs and risks. This project is also 3-D seismic driven with well depths
approximating 4,000 feet. Exploration teams for both projects specialize in their respective
geographic areas and have been highly successful finding new reserves using 3-D seismic. The
company believes that both projects have the potential to generate significant future
production and reserve growth.

Over the past five years, the company has participated in developing, testing, refining, and
patenting Calliope. Calliope efficiently lifts fluids from wellbores using pressure
differentials, thus allowing gas previously trapped by fluid build-up in the wellbore to
flow to the surface. Calliope is clearly different from all other fluid lift technologies
because it does not rely on bottom-hcle pressure and has only one down-hole moving part.
Callicpe is primarily applicable to mature natural gas wells in low pressure, natural gas
expansion reservoirs at depths below 8,000 feet. The company has a 10 year unrestricted
exclusive license for the Calliope technology which can be extended, at the company’s
option, to cover the texrm of the latest patent. External sources of capital have not been
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required for the development, refinement or installation of Callicpe. At October 31, 2005,
Callicpe has been installed on 22 wells ranging in depth from 6,500 feet to 18,400 feet. The
company has proven Calliope's economic viability and flexibility over a wide range of
applications.

The company significantly expanded its Calliope operations in 2005 by moving into Texas and
Louigiana and has entered into discussions with other companies regarding the formation of
Jjoint venture arrangements that utilize Calliope. In addition, higher gas prices have
facilitated a new Calliope project to drill wells into low-pressure reservoirs containing
substantial stranded gas reserves. Calliope will then be used to recover those reserves.
This is expected to enhance the company's control over monetizing Calliope's value while
providing the opportunity to optimize Calliope's performance and broaden the range of
reservoirs for Calliope applications.

The company acts as "operator" of approximately 108 wells pursuant to standard industry
operating agreements. The company owns interests in approximately 1,400 wells of which
approximately 1,150 wells, represent small overriding royalty interests.

Markets and Customers

Marketing of the company's ¢il and gas production is influenced by many factors which are
beyond the company's control, the exact effect of which cannot be accurately predicted. These
factors include changes in supply and demand, market prices, regulation, and actions of major
foreign producers. Oil price fluctuations can be extremely vclatile as was demonstrated
when, during 2003, the posted price for West Texas intermediate fell below $25.00 per barrel
and then rose to over $60.00 per barrel late in 2005.

Natural gas price decontrol, the advent of an active spot market for natural gas, changes in
supply and demand for natural gas, and weather patterns cause natural gas prices to be
subject to significant fluctuations. The company presently sells virtually all of its
natural gas under one to five year contracts with major pipeline companies. The sales price
is typically based on monthly index prices for the applicable pipeline. Title to the natural
gas normally passes to the pipeline at meters located near the wells. The index prices are
reduced by certain pipeline charges.

Most of the company's natural gas production is located in northwestern Oklahoma. There has
been significant consolidation among natural gas pipelines in this area, thereby reducing the
nurier of available purchasers. In many instances, there may be only one viable pipeline
option, which enables the pipeline to charge higher rates.

Over the past few years there has been increasing concern that a supply/demand imbalance has
developed in domestic natural gas based on increasing demand and lower deliverability. This,
together with rising oil prices, political unrest and uncertainty in certain major producing
regions, supply vulnerability to natural disasters, such as hurricanes, and active
speculaticn in the natural gas futures market has caused natural gas prices to become
increasingly volatile. The company expects strong natural gas prices to continue for several
years but cannot reasonably predict the extent or timing of natural gas price fluctuations.

As discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the company periodically hedges
the price of a portion of its estimated natural gas production in the form of forward short
positions and collars on the NYMEX futures market.

0il production is sold to crude oil purchasing companies at competitive spot field prices.
Crude o0il and condensate production are readily marketable, and the company is generally not
dependent on a single purchaser. Crude o0il prices are subject to world-wide supply and
demand, and are primarily dependent upon available supplies which can vary significantly
depending on production and pricing policies of OPEC and other major producing countries and
on significant events in major producing regions. Political unrest and market uncertainty
in the Middle East, Africa, South America and former Soviet Union, OPEC's renewed
cooperation in managing the price of its produced oil, and increased demand from countries




with developing economies, such as China and India, have resulted in higher world-wide oil
prices during the past several years.

Information concerning the company's major customers is included in Note (8) to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Competition and Regulation

The o0il and gas industry is highly competitive. As a small independent, the company must
compete against companies with substantially larger financial, human and other resources in
all aspects of its business.

0il and gas drilling and production operations are resgulated by varicus federal, state and
local agencies. These agencies issue binding rules and regulations which carry penalties,
often substantial, for failure to comply. The company anticipates its aggregate burden of
federal, state and local regulation will continue to increase particularly in the area of
rapidly changing environmental laws and regulaticns. The company also believes that its
present operations substantially comply with applicable regulaticns. To date, such
regulations have not had a material effect on the company's operations, or the costs thereof.
There are no known environmental or other regulatory matters related to the company's
operations which are reascnably expected to result ia material liability to the company. The
company does not believe that capital expenditures related to environmental control
facilities or other regulatory matters will be material in 2006. The company cannot predict
what subsequent legislation or regulations may be enacted or what effect they might have on
the company's business.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In evaluating the company, careful consideration should be given tc the following risk
factors, in addition to the other information included or incorporated by reference in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Each of these risk factors could adversely affect the company's
business, operating results and financial condition, as well as adversely affect the value of
an investment in the company's common stock.

Volatility of oil and natural gas prices could adversely affect the company’s profitability
and financial condition. )

The company's performance in terms of revenues, operating results, profitability, future rate
of growth and the carrying value of its oil and natural gas properties is significantly
impacted by prevailing market prices for oil and natural gas. Any substantial or extended
decline in the price of o0il or natural gas could have a material adverse effect on the
company. It could reduce the company's operating cash flow as well as the value and, to a
legser degree, the quantity of its oil and natural gas reserves.

Historically, the markets for oil and natural gas have been volatile, and they are likely to
continue to be volatile. Relatively minor changes in supply or demand can have a significant
effect on o0il and natural gas prices. Some of the factors affecting oil and natural gas
prices which are beyond the company's control include:

¢ worldwide and domestic supplies of o0il and natural gas;

. worldwide and domestic demand for oil and natural gas;

e the ability of the members of OPEC to agree to and maintain oil price and
production controls;

e political instability or armed conflict in oil or natural gas producing

regions;

worldwide and domestic economic conditions;

the availability of transportation facilities;

weather patterns; and

actions of governmental authorities.



Competition for opportunities to replace and increase production and reserves is intense and
could adversely affect the company.

Properties produce at a declining rate over time. In order to maintain current production
rates the company must add new oil and natural gas reserves to replace those being depleted
by production. Competiticn within the oil and natural gas industry is intense and wany of
the company's competitors have financial and other rescurces substantially greater than those
available to the company. This could place the company at a disadvantage with respect to
accessing opportunities to maintain, or increase, its oil and natural gas reserve base.

In the event that the company does not have adequate cash flow to fund operations, it may be
required to use debt or equity financing.

The company makes, and will continue to make, significant expenditures to find, acquire,
develop and produce 0il and natural gas reserves. If oil and natural gas prices decrease, or
if operating difficulties are encountered that result in cash flow from operations being less
than expected, the company may have to reduce capital expenditures unless additional funds
are raised through debt or equity financing. Debt or equity financing or cash generated by
operations may not be available to the company in sufficient amounts or on acceptable terms
to meet these requirements.

Future cash flows and the availability of financing will be subject to a number of variables,
such as:

e the company's success in locating and producing new reserves;
e the level of production from existing wells; and
e prices of ¢il and natural gas;

Issuing equity securities to satisfy the company's financing requirements could cause
substantial dilution to existing stockholders. Debt financing could make the company more
vulnerable to competitive pressures and economic downturns.

Reserve quantities and values are subject to many variables and estimates and actual results
may vary.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains estimates of the company's proved oil and natural
gas reserves and the estimated future net revenues from those reserves. Any significant
negative variance in these estimates could have a material adverse effect on the company's
future performance.

Reserve estimates are bagsed on various assumptions, including assumptions required by the SEC
relating to oil and natural gas prices, drilling and operating expenses, capital
expenditures, taxes and availability of funds. The process of estimating reserves is
complex. This process requires significant decisions and assumptions in the evaluation of
available geological, geophysical, engineering and economic data.

Reserve estimates are dependent on many variables, and therefore, as more information becomes
available, it is reasonable to expect that there will be changes to the estimates. Actual
future producticn, oil and natural gas prices, revenues, taxes, development expenditures,
operating expenses and quantities of recoverable oil and natural gas reserves will most
likely vary from those estimated. Any significant variance could materially affect the
estimated quantities and present value of reserves disclosed by the company. In addition,
estimates of proved reserves will be adjusted in the future to reflect production history,
results of exploration and development, prevailing oil and natural gas prices and other
factors, many of which are beyond the company's control.

As of October 31, 2005, approximately 11% of the company's estimated proved reserves are
classified as proved undeveloped. Estimation of proved undeveloped reserves and proved
developed non-producing reserves is generally based on volumetric calculaticns rather than
the performance data used to estimate reserves for producing properties. Recovery of proved
undeveloped reserves generally requires significant capital expenditures and successful
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drilling operations. Revenues from proved developed ncon-producing and proved undeveloped
reserves will not be realized until some time in the future. The reserve estimate includes
an estimate of the capital expenditures required to develop these reserves as well as the
timing of such expenditures. Although the company has prepared estimates of its proved
undeveloped reserves and the associated development costs in accordance with industry
standards, they are based on estimates, and actual results may vary.

You should not interxpret the present value of estimated reserves, or PV-10, as the current
market value of reserves attributable to the company's prcoperties. The 10% discount factor,
which we are required to use to calculate PV-10 for reporting purposes, is not necessarily
the most appropriate discount factor given actual interest rates and risks to which the
company’'s business or the oil and natural gas industry in general are subject. The company
has based the PV-10 on prices and costs as of the date of the reserve estimate, in accordance
with applicable regulations. Actual future prices and costs may be materially higher or
lower. In addition to the price volatility factors discussed above, factors that will affect
actual future net cash flows, include:

¢ the amount and timing of actual production;
¢ curtailments or increases in consumption by o©il and natural gas purchasers; and
e changes in governmental regulations or taxation.

As a result, the company's actual future net cash flows could be materially different from
the estimates included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The company’s reserve quantities and values are concentrated in a relative few properties and
fields.

The company's reserves, and reserve values, are concentrated in 54 properties which represent
28% of the company's total properties but a dispropcrtionate 76% of the discounted value

(at 10%) of the company's reserves. Individual wells on which Calliope is installed comprise
22% of these significant properties and 32% of the discounted reserve value of such
properties. Relatively new wells comprise 22% of these significant properties and 24% of the
discounted reserve value of such properties.

Estimates of reserve quantities and values for these properties must be viewed as being
subject to significant change as more data about the properties becomes available. Such
properties include wells with limited production histories and properties with proved
undeveloped or proved non-producing reserves. In addition, Calliope is generally installed
on mature wells. As such, they contain older down-hole equipment that is more subject to
failure than new equipment. The failure of such equipment, particularly casing, can result
in complete loss of a well.

Competition for materials and services is intense and could adversely affect the company.

Major oil companies, independent producers, and institutional and individual investors are
actively seeking o0il and gas properties throughout the world, along with the equipment, labor
and materials required to develop and operate properties. Shortages for equipment, labor or
materials may result in increased costs or the inability to obtain such resources as needed.
Many of the company's competitors have financial and technological resources which exceed
those available to the company.

The company’s hedging arrangements involve credit risk and may limit future revenues from
price increases.

To manage the company's exposure to price risks associated with the sale of natural gas, the
company periodically enters into hedging transactions for a portion of its estimated natural
gas production. These transactions may limit the company's potential gains if natural gas
prices were to rise substantially over the price established by the hedge. 1In addition,



such transactions may expose the company to the risk of financial loss in certain
circumstances, including instances in which:

e the company's production is less than expected;
¢ the contractual counterparties fail to perform under the contracts; or
e a sudden, unexpected event, materially impacts natural gas prices.

The terms of the company's hedging agreements may also require that it furnish cash
collateral, letters of credit or other forms of performance assurance in the event that mark-
to-market calculations result in settlement cobligations by the company to the counterparties,
which would encumber the company's liquidity and capital resources.

In addition, hedging transactions using derivative instruments involve basis risk. Basis
risk in a hedging contract occurs when the index upon which the contract is based is more or
less variable than the index upon which the hedged asset is based, thereby making the hedge
less effective.

The marketability of the company’s natural gas production is dependent upon infrastructure,
such as gathering systems, pipelines and processing facilities, that the company does not own
or control.

The marketability of the company's natural gas production depends in part upon the
availability, proximity and capacity of natural gas gathering systems, pipelines and
processing facilities necessary to move the company’s natural gas production to market. The
company does not own this infrastructure and is dependent on other companies to provide it.

0il and natural gas operations are inherently risky.

The oil and natural gas business involves a variety of risks, including the risks of
operating hazards such as fires, explosions, cratering, blow-outs, and encountering
formations with abnormal pressures. The occurrence of any of these risks could result in
losses. We maintain insurance against some, but not all, of these risks. Management
believes that the level of insurance against these risks is reasonable and is in accordance
with industry practices. The occurrence of a significant event, however, that is not fully
insured could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of
cperations.

The company’s operations are subject to a variety of contractual, regulatory and other
constraints.

The production and sale of oil and natural gas are subject to a variety of federal, state and
local government regulations. These include:

the prevention of waste;

the discharge of materials into the environment;
the ccnservation of oil and natural gas;
pollution;

permits for drilling operations;

drilling bonds;

reports concerning cperations;

the spacing of wells; and

the unitization and pooling of properties.

Because current regulaticns covering the company's operations are subject to change at any
time, and despite its belief that it is in substantial compliance with applicable
environmental and other government laws and regulations, the company may incur significant
costs for future compliance.
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Increases in taxes on energy sources may adversely affect the company’s operations.

Federal, state and local governments which have jurisdiction in areas where the company
operates impose taxes on the oil and natural gas products sold. Historically, there has been
on-going consideration by federal, state and local officials concerning a variety of energy
tax proposals. Such matters are beyond the company’s ability to accurately predict or
control.

The company is highly dependent on the services of one of its officers.

The company is highly dependent on the services of James T. Huffman, our President and Chief
Executive Officer. The loss of Mr. Huffman could have a material adverse effect on the
company .

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
General

The company's drilling activities are primarily located along the shelf of the Northern
Anadarkc Basin of Oklahoma and in the Cklahoma Panhandle where the company owns interests in
73,000 gross acres. Specifically, drilling expenditures have been focused on prospects
located in Harper, Ellis and Beaver Counties, Oklahoma. Wells target the Morrow and Chester
formations between 7,000 and 10,000 feet. Since 2001, the company has participated in
drilling 59 wells on the prospects with interests ranging up to 65%. Of those wells, 46 were
completed as producers and 13 were dry holes. Several of the wells are exceptional for the
area, and 11 of the wells are included in the company's Significant Properties (see
definition below). Several of the prospects have ample room for additional drilling and the
company believes that more good wells will be drilled.

The company owns the exclusive right to the Calliope Gas Recovery System. The company
believes it has proven that Calliope will add 0.5 to 2.0 Bef of proved gas reserves to many
dead and uneconomic wells. The company also believes there are presently more than

1,000 wells that meet its general criteria for Calliope candidate wells and thousands more
that will meet its general Calliope criteria in the future.

Calliope operations are currently focused in Oklahoma where the company has a significant
field operations infrastructure. Most Calliope wells are located in the Northern 2Znadarko
Basin of Oklahoma. To date, Calliope has been installed on 22 wells ranging in depth from
6,500 to 18,400 feet. All of the wells were either dead or uneconomic at the time Calliope
was installed. Twelve Calliope wells are included in the company's Significant Properties.
Recently, the company has expanded its Calliope operations into Texas and Louisiana.

For additional information regarding current year activities, including oil and gas
production, refer to "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations".

Significant Properties, Estimated Proved 0Oil and Gas Reserves, and Future Net Revenues

The company's reserves, and reserve values, are concentrated in 54 properties ("Significant
Properties"). Some of the Significant Properties are individual wells and others are
multi-well properties. At year-end, Significant Properties represent 28% of the company's
total properties but a disproporticnate 76% of the discounted value (at 10%) of the company's
reserves. Individual Calliope wells comprise 22% of the Significant Properties and represent
32% of the discounted reserve value of such properties. Wells drilled on the prospects
discussed above (Item 2. Properties, General) comprise 22% of the Significant Properties and
represent 24% of the discounted reserve value of such properties.

Estimates of reserve quantities and values for certain Significant Properties must be viewed
as being subject to significant change as more data about the properties becomes available.
Such properties include wells with limited production histories (including post Calliope
installation wells) and properties with proved undeveloped or proved non-producing reserves.
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In addition, Calliope wells are generally mature wells. As such, they contain older
down-hole equipment that is more subject to failure than new equipment. The failure of such
equipment, particularly casing, can result in complete loss of a well.

McCartney Engineering, Inc., an independent petroleum engineering firm, estimated proved
reserves for the company's properties which represented 63% in 2005, 61% in 2004, and 64% in
2003 of the total estimated future value of estimated reserves. Remaining reserves were
estimated by the company in all years. At October 31, 2005, natural gas represented 87% and
crude oil represented 13% of total reserves denominated in equivalent Mef's using a six Mef
of gas to one barrel of oil conversion ratio.

The following table sets forth, as of October 31 of the indicated year, information regarding
the company's proved reserves which is based on the assumptions set forth in Note (8) to the
Congolidated Financial Statements where additional reserve information is provided. The
average price used to calculate estimated future net revenues was $55.59, $50.43 and $28.64
per barrel of oil and $10.26, $5.84, and $3.99 per Mcf of gas as of Octcber 31, 2005, 2004,
and 2003, respectively. Amounts do not include estimates of future Federal and state income
taxes.

Estimated Future

Cil Gas Estimated Future Net Revenues
Year (bblg) * (Mcf) * Net Revenues Discounted at 10%
2005 386,000 15,516,000 $ 136,878,000 $ 81,208,000
2004 407,000 15,273,000 S 77,612,000 ] 44,551,000
2003 385,000 13,786,000 s 45,165,000 $ 25,024,000

* The percentage of total reserves classified as proved developed was approximately 89% in 2005,
93% in 2004 and 99% in 2003.

Production, Average Sales Prices and Average Production Costs

The company's net production quantities and average price realizations per unit for the
indicated years are set forth below. Price realizations are net of any hedging gains or
losses.

2005 2004 2003
Product Volume Price Volume Price Volume Price
Gag (Mcf) ....... 1,830,000 $ 6.16 1,710,000 S 4.60 1,449,000 $ 4.50
0il (bbkls) ...... 37,000 $ 50.80 41,000 S 36.57 35,000 S 27.68

Average production costs, including production taxes, per equivalent Mcf of production {using
a six Mcf of gas to one barrel of oil conversion ratio) were $1.35, $1.06, and $0.97 per Mcfe
in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Productive Wells and Developed Acreage

Developed acreage at October 31, 2005 totaled 26,000 net and 118,000 gross acres. At

October 31, 2005, the company owned working interests in 75.45 net (257 gross) wells
consisting of 16.23 net (43 gross) oil wells and 59.22 net (214 gross) natural gas wells. In
addition, the company owned royalty and production payment interests in approximately

1,150 wells, primarily ccal bed methane located in Wyoming. In 2005, the company sold or
abandoned 1.30 net (4 gross) wells. In the same period, the company drilled and acquired
interests in 7.22 net (31 gross) wells in which it did not previously own an interest.
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Undeveloped Acreage

The following table sets forth the number of undeveloped acres (primarily located in the Mid-
Continent and Rocky Mountain Regions) which will expire during the next five years (and
thereafter) unless production is established in the interim. Undeveloped acres "held-by-
production" represent the undeveloped portions of producing leases which will not expire
until commercial production ceases.

Royalty Working
Interest Acreadge Interest Acreage
Expiration
Year Ending
October 31, Gross Net Gross Net
2006 3,100 - 17,800 7,200
2007 2,700 - 20,300 8,200
2008 - - 10,100 3,600
2009 - - 700 200
2010 3,300 100 5,000 1,000
Thereaftexr 1,000 500 4,000 1,600
Held-By-Production 151,200 8,000 11,800 2,300
Total 161,300 8,600 69,700 - 24,100

In general, "royalty" interests are non-operated interests which are not burdened by costs of
exploration or lease operations, while "working interests" have operating rights and
participate in such costs.

Drilling

The following tables set forth the number of gross and net oil and gas wells in which the
company has participated and the results thereof for the periods indicated.

Grogss Wells

Year Ended Total Gross Exploratory Development
October 31, Wells 0il Gas Dry Qil Gas Dry
2005 29 - 10 2 - 14 -
2004 25 1 3 4 - 14 3
2003 21 - 12 3 - 6 -
1978-2002 234 12 101 78 15 23 5
Total 309 _ 13 126 87 15 57 8
Net Wells
Year Ended Total Net Exploratory Development
QOctober 31, Wells Oil Gas Dry 0il Gas Dry
2005 4.683 - 3.075 0.208 - 1.400 -
2004 6.899 .306 1.381 2.074 - 1.980 1.158.
2003 4.906 - 2.564 0.762 - 1.580 -
1978-2002 38.927 1.557 16.062 12.418 4,350 2.555 1.985

Total —55.415 —1.863 23.082 15.462 4.350 7.515 3.143
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Insurance

The company believes that its existing insurance coverage is adequate to protect it from the
risks associated with the ongoing operation of its business. This coverage includes
commercial property, liability and auto, workers compensation, inland marine and excess
liability.

Facilities and Employees

The company's corporate headquarters are located at 1801 Broadway, Suite 900, Denver,
Colorado, in approximately 4,000 square feet occupied under a lease. The company believes
that this space is adequate for its current needs. The company's current lease expires in
April 2006. The company has finalized negotiaticns with its landlord and expects to renew
its office lease in the second quarter of 2006.

As of October 31, 2005, the company had 12 employees. None of the company's emplcoyees is
subject to a collective bargaining agreement, and the company considers relations with its
employees to be good.

Company Website

Information related to the following items, among other information, can be found on the
company's website at www.credopetroleum.com: (a) company filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, (b) company press releases, (¢) officers, directors and ten percent
shareholders filings on Forms 3, 4 and 5, and (d) the company's Code of Ethics and Audit
Committee Charter. The company's website is not a part of, or incorporated by reference in,
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, the company may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out
of the company's cperations in the normal course of business. As of the date of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, the company is not a party to any material pending legal proceedings.
No such proceedings have been threatened and none are contemplated by the company.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2005.

PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY

SECURITIES

The company's common stock is traded on the National Association of Securities Dealers
Automated Quetation System under the symbol "CRED". Market quotations shown below were
reported by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and represent prices between
dealers excluding retail mark-up or commissions and may not necessarily represent actual
transactions.

2005 2004
Quarter Ended High Low High Low
January 31 ... $ 9.93 $ 8.21 S 9.00 s 7.14
April 30 ..t e $ 11.29 $ 9.00 $ 11.11 S 7.99
July 31 .. e e $ 11.99 $ 9.18 $ 12.53 $ 9.34
October 31 ........0.ciiuenn.. $ 18.80 $ 11.87 $ 11.59 $ 8.18
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At January 20, 2006, the company had 2,752 shareholders of record. The company has never
paid a cash dividend and does not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
Earnings are reinvested in business activities.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

The company did not repurchase any shares of its common stock during the fiscal quarter ended
October 31, 2005.

Equity Compensation Plan Information.
The following table summarizes the company's equity compensation plan under which securities
may be issued as of October 31, 2005. The only types of equity compensation plans that the

company has are plans that authorize the granting of options to purchase shares of its common
stock.

Number of securities

Number of remaining available for
securities to Weighted-average future issuance under
be issued per share the equity compensation
upon exercise exercise price plan (excluding
of outstanding of outstanding securities reflected
Plan Category options (a) options (b) in column {(a)) (c)
Equity compensation
plans approved
by security holders ... 485,064 $ 5.78 108,995
Equity compensation
plans not approved
by security holders ... - — - -
Total . ...t 485,064 5 __5.78 109,995

A description of the company's equity compensation plan is contained in Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements contained elsewhere in this document.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth certain financial information with respect to the company and
is qualified in its entirety by reference to the historical financial statements and notes
thereto of the company included in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."
The statement of operations and balance sheet data included in this table for each of the
five years in the pericd ended October 31, 2005 were derived from the audited financial
statements and the accompanying notes to those financial statements.

Years Ended October 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Audited Financial Information
Statement of Operations Data:
0il and gas 3ales............ $ 13,143,000 $ 9,367,000 S 7,494,000 S 4,698,000 $ 5,163,000
Operating revenue............ 668,000 604,000 536,000 488,000 456,000
Investment and other income.. 146,000 343,000 461,000 172,000 188, 000
0il and gas production
EXPENSE . v v vt ittt e 2,759,000 2,075,000 1,608,000 1,291,000 1,135,000
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization................ 2,402,000 1,747,000 1,333,000 1,202,000 842,000
General and administrative... 1,497,000 1,383,000 1,257,000 1,060,000 957,000
Interest expense............. 37,000 39,000 46,000 49,000 53,000
Income before income taxes and
cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle..... 7,262,000 5,070,000 4,247,000 1,756,000 2,820,000
Net InCome . .....vverenennenn. 5,229,000 3,650,000 3,130,000 1,282,000 2,002,000
Net income per share':
BasiC ...ttt $0.58 $0.40 $0.35 $0.15 $0.24
Diluted...... ..., $0.56 $0.39 $0.35 : $0.14 $0.23
Weighted-average shares
outstandingu“
Bagsic...... ... . i i 9,080,000 9,036,000 8,869,000 8,761,000 8,397,000
Diluted........ ..o 8,367,000 9,282,000 9,042,000 8,852,000 8,832,000
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital.............. 7,697,000 5,611,000 6,577,000 6,630,000 5,791,000
Total assets.......... .. ..... 37,844,000 30,976,000 23,572,000 18,811,000 16,470,000
Long-term obligations:
Exclusive license agreement
obligation................. 233,000 297,000 355,000 408,000 456,000
Stockholders' equity......... 26,947,000 20,920,000 17,635,000 14,307,000 12,843,000
Cash dividends declared
per commeon share............ - - - - -
Unaudited Operating Data
Production Volumes:
Gas (Mcf) ... ... ... .. . .. 1,830,000 1,710,000 1,449,000 1,298,000 800, 000
01l (Bbls) ... i, 37,000 41,000 35,000 37,000 44,000
Mcfe...... .o i 2,050,000 1,960,000 1,660,000 1,520,000 1,140,000
Average sales price before
hedging:
Per Mcf....... ... .. ... $ 6.55 S 5.02 $ 4.57 $ 2.61 S 4.17
Per Bbls...........coin... $50.90 $36.57 $27.68 $22.01 $26 .45
Average sales price after
hedging:
Per Mcf............ ... . ... $ 6.16 $ 4.60 $ 4.50 $ 3.00 $ 5.00
Per Bbls..........ooviiun $50.90 $36.57 $27.68 $22.01 $26.45
Reserves:
Gag (Mcf) ....... ... . ... ... 15,516,000 15,273,000 13,786,000 9,415,000 9,121,000
O0il (Bbls) ..... ...t 386,000 407,000 385,000 337,000 330,000
Mcfe.......c i 17,835,000 17,717,000 16,097,000 11,435,000 11,099,000
Estimated future net
FEVENUES . v v v vttt v i nma s $136,878,000 $77,612,000 345,165,000 $29,774,000 $21,843,000
Estimated future net
revenues discounted at 10%.. $ 81,209,000 $44,551,000 $28,024,000 $18,035,000 $13,874,000

(1) The effect of the three for two stock splits in 2005 and 2004 are reflected in all historical \
share and per share data.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At October 31, 2005, working capital was $7,697,000, compared to $5,611,000 at

October 31, 2004. For the year ended Octcber 31, 2005, net cash provided by operating
activities increased 91% to $8,821,000 compared to net cash provided by operating activities
of $4,618,000 for the same period in 2004. This increase is primarily the result of
increases in net income and other non-cash items (DD&A, deferred income taxes, cumulative
effect of change in accounting principal and other) of $2,080,000; a net decrease of $876,000
in short term investments in 2005 versus a net increase in short term investments of
$1,593,000 in 2004 which resulted in a net increase of $2,469,000 between the two periods; a
net increase in cash as a result of changes in accrued oil and gas sales, trade receivables
and other current assets of $899,000; and a net decrease in cash as a result of changes in
accounts payable and income taxes payable of $1,245,000. For the year ended October 31, 2005
and 2004, net cash used in investing activities was $7,667,000 and $6,179,000, respectively.
Investing activities primarily included oil and gas exploration and development expenditures,
including Calliope, totaling $6,938,000 and $5,671,000, respectively.

The average return on the company's investments for the year ended October 31, 2005 and 2004
was 2.8% and 5.0%, respectively. At Octcber 31, 2005, approximately 52% of the investments
were directly invested in mutual funds and were managed by professional money managers.
Remaining investments are in managed partnerships that use varicus strategies to minimize
their correlation to stock market movements. Most of the investments are highly ligquid and
the company believes they represent a responsible approach to cash management. In the
company's opinion, the greatest investment risk is the potential for negative market impact
from unexpected, major adverse news.

Existing working capital and anticipated cash flow are expected to be sufficient to fund
operations and capital requirements for at least the next 12 months. At October 31, 2005 the
company had remaining estimated capital requirements of $1,206,000 related to projects in
South Texas and along the Central Kansas uplift. Such costs, which include overhead, lease
bonuses, land services and 3-D seismic, are expected to be funded over the next 12 to 15
months.

As of October 31, 2005, the company had the following known contractual obligations:

Payments Due by Period

Less Than 1-3 3-5 More Than
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Exclusive license
obligation ......... S 375,000 $ 93,750 S 281,250 s - s -
Operating lease
obligations ........ 21,500 21,500 - - -
Total ................ S 396,500 S 115,250 S 281,250 s = S -

At October 31, 2005, the company had no lines of credit or other bank financing arrangements
except for the hedging line of credit discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. Because earnings are anticipated to be reinvested in operations, cash dividends
are not expected to be paid. The company has no defined benefit plans and no obligations for
post retirement employee benefits.

The company's cash flow from cperating activities (before changes in operating assets and
liabilities) increased approximately $2.1 million for the year ended October 31, 2005.

Although cash flow from operating activities (before changes in operating assets and
liabilities) is not a generally accepted accounting principles measure of performance or
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liquidity, the company believes that it may be useful to an investor in evaluating its
performance. However, investors should not consider this measure in isolation or as a
substitute for cperating income, cash flows from operating activities or any other measure
for determining the company's operating performance or liquidity that is calculated in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. In additiomn, because cash flow
from cperating activities (before changes in operating assets and liabilities) is not
calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, it may not
necessarily be comparable to similarly titled measures employed by other companies. A
reconciliation of cash flow from operating activities (before changes in operating assets and
liabilities) can be made by adding net income, depreciation, depletion and amortization
expense, deferred income taxes, the cumulative effect of change in accounting principal and
other as in the table below.

For The Year Ended Octcber 31,

2005 2004 2003
Reconciliation of Cash Flow From Operating
Activities (before changes in operating

assets and liabilities):

NEL IICOME v v ittt e ettt et ettt e e e $ 5,229,000 $ 3,650,000 $ 3,130,000
Depreciation, depletion and amortization.. 2,402,000 1,747,000 1,333,000
Deferred income taxes ............c.c.ucuu..n 1,373,000 1,496,000 1,016,000
Cumulative effect of change in accounting

principal ... . e e e - - (72,000)
Other .o e e - 34,000 6,000

Cash Flow From Operating Activities (before

changes in operating assets and liabilities) $ 5,004,000 S 6,927,000 $.5,413,000
Off-Balance Sheet Financing
The company has no off-balance sheet financing arrangements at October 31, 2005.
Product Prices and Production

Refer to Item 1., "Markets and Customers", for discussion of oil and gas prices and
marketing.

Although product prices are key to the company's ability to operate profitably and to budget
capital expenditures, they are beyond the company's control and are difficult to predict.
Since 1991, the company has periodically hedged the price of a portion of its estimated
natural gas production when the potential for significant downward price movement is
anticipated. Hedging transactions typically take the form of forward short positions and
collars on the NYMEX futures market, and are closed by purchasing offsetting positions. Such
hedges, which are accounted for as cash flow hedges, do not exceed estimated production
volumes, are expected to have reasonable correlation between price movements in the futures
market and the cash markets where the company's production is lccated, and are authorized by
the company's Board cof Directors. Hedges are expected to be closed as related production
occurs but may be closed earlier if the anticipated downward price movement occurs or if the
company believes that the potential for such movement has abated.

The company recognizes all derivatives (consisting solely of cash flow hedges) on the balance
sheet at fair value at the end of each period. Changes in the fair value of a cash flow
hedge are recorded in Stockholders' Equity as Accumulated Other Comprehensive Inccme (Loss) on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets and then are reclassified into the Consolidated Statement of
Operations as the underlying hedged item affects earnings. Amounts reclassified into
earnings related to natural gas hedges are included in oil and gas sales.

Hedging gains and losses are recognized as adjustments to gas sales as the hedged product is
produced. The company had after tax hedging losses of $518,000 in fiscal 2005 and after tax
hedging losses of $516,000 in fiscal 2004. BAny hedge ineffectiveness, which was not material
for the three years ended October 31, 2005, is immediately recognized in gas sales.
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Subsequent to October 31, 2005, the company closed its December 2005 and January 2006 hedge
contracts at expiration (120 MMbtu) with an after tax hedging loss of $227,000. The company
currently has no open hedge positions.

The company has a hedging line of credit with its bank which is available, at the discretion
of the company, to meet margin calls. To date, the company has not used this facility and
maintains it only as a precaution related to possible margin calls. The maximum credit line
is $2,000,000 with interest calculated at the prime rate. The facility is unsecured and has
covenants that require the company to maintain $3,000,000 in cash or short term investments
and prohibits unfunded debt in excess of $500,000. It expires on October 31, 2006.

0il and natural gas sales volume and price realization comparisons for the indicated years
ended October 31 are set forth below. Price realizations include hedging gains and losses.

2005 2004 2003
Product Volume Price Volume Price Volume Price
Gas (Mcf) ....... 1,830,000 $ 6.16 1,710,000 S 4.60 1,448,000 $ 4.50
% change ........ +7% +34% +18% +2% +12% +50%
0il (bbls) ...... 37,000 $ 50.90 41,000 S 36.57 35,000 $ 27.68
% change ........ -10% +39% +18% +32% -5% +26%

Increases in natural gas volumes resulted primarily from successful drilling in Oklahoma.
Most o0il and condensate volumes are associated with natural gas production and, therefore,
vary from well to well depending on the volume and "richness" of the natural gas produced.
Significant Properties (see definition on page 11) contributed 41% of 2005 production on a
gas-equivalent basis.

As to Significant Properties, wells drilled since 2001 contributed 40% of 2005 production
while Calliope wells installed during the same period contributed 17% of such productiocn.
Refer to Item 2, "Properties", for disclosures regarding reserve values on Significant
Properties.

0il and Gas Activities

General. Capital spending in 2005 totaled $7,327,000, a 3% increase over last year. During
the year the company continued to focus on its two core projects - natural gas drilling along
the shelf of the Northern Anadarko Basin of Oklahoma and application of its patented Calliope
Gas Recovery System.

The company has recently expanded into South Texas through an exploration program using

3-D seismic to define the Vicksburg, Frio, Queen and Wilcox prospects in Hidalgo and Jim Hogg
counties and into north-central Kansas through an exploration program using 3-D seismic to
define Lansing-Kansas City oil prospects in Graham and Sheridan counties. The company
believes that, in combination, its drilling and Calliope projects provide an excellent (and
possibly unique) balance for achieving its goal of adding long-lived natural gas reserves and
production at reascnable costs and risks.

The company will continue to actively pursue adding reserves through its two core projects in
fiscal 2006 and expects these activities to be a reliable source of reserve additions.
However, the timing and extent of such activities can be dependent on many factors which are
beyond the company's contrel, including but not limited to, the availability of oil field
services such as drilling rigs, production equipment and related services and access to wells
for application of the company's patented liquid lift system on low pressure gas wells. The
prevailing price of oil and natural gas has a significant affect on demand and, thus, the
related cost of such services and wells.

Drilling Activities. The company currently drills primarily on its 60,000 gross acre
inventory located along the northern shelf of the Anadarko Basin. During 2005, the company
drilled 12 wells in Oklahoma with working interests ranging up to 69%. Ten of these wells
have been completed as producers. The wells, which ranged from development to rank wildcat,
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are located on five different prospects. Drilling expenditures were concentrated on the
company's acreage inventory located along the northern shelf of the Anadarko Basin of
Oklahoma. The wells targeted the Morrow, Oswego and Chester formations between 7,000 and
10,000 feet. A substantial number of additional wells are anticipated for the area.

Drilling is not restricted to the northern Anadarko shelf acreage. The company is generating
prospects elsewhere in the Northern Anadarko Basin, in the Oklahoma Panhandle, north-central
Oklahoma, north-central Kansas and South Texas. In addition, 14 ccal bed methane wells were
drilled on acreage in Wyoming where the company owns working interests of approximately 10%,
and 160 coal bed methane wells were drilled on Wyoming acreage where the company owns small
royalty interests.

This year the company significantly expanded both the volume and breadth of its exploration
program with new projects in South Texas and north-central Kansas. It is the company's
intention to diversify its exploration geographically, scientifically, and in terms of
capital, risk and reserve potential. Compared to drilling in Oklahoma, the South Texas
project involves higher costs and greater risks but significantly higher per well reserve
potential. The north-central Kansas project is geared to oil exploration and has excellent
potential to add significant reserves at moderate costs and risks. Both projects are in
areas where 3-D seismic is a proven exploration tcol and where continuing refinements are
providing excellent exploraticn success. Equally as important, both exploration teams
specialize in their respective geographic areas and have been highly successful finding new
reserves using 3-D seismic.

As previously discussed, drilling of generated South Texas prospects is not covered by the
exploration agreement and, therefore, is not a capital requirement under the exploration
agreement. Drilling is expected to commence in early 2006. The initial four well drilling
program will be located in Hidalgo and Jim Hogg Counties and wells will range in depth from
10,200 to 15,500 feet with an estimated total cost (8\8ths basis) of approximately
$14,000,000. Completed well costs are estimated to range from $1,500,000 at 10,000 feet to
$6,500,000 at 15,500 feet. The company is currently evaluating what portion of its

37.5% after payout interest to retain for direct participation.

The north-central Kansas project agreement provides for approximately 28 square miles of
3-D seismic to be collected and evaluated and five exploratory wells to be drilled.
Completed well costs are estimated to be approximately $280,000. Drilling will commence
after new 3-D seismic shooting and interpretation is completed, which is expected in
mid-2006.

The company replaced 106% of its 2005 production. Per unit finding costs were $2.73 per Mcf
in gas equivalents excluding start-up costs in South Texas and north-central Kansas.

211 of the company's oil and natural gas properties are located on-shore in the continental
United States. The company's future drilling activities may not be successful, and its
overall drilling success rate may change. Unsuccessful drilling activities could have a
material adverse effect on the company's results of operations and financial condition.
Also, the company may not be able to obtain the right to drill in areas where it believes
there is significant potential for the company.

Calliope Gas Recovery Technology. The company owns the exclusive right to a patented
technology known as the Calliope Gas Recovery System. Calliope can achieve substantially
lower flowing bottom hole pressure than conventional production methods because it does not
rely on reservoir pressure to lift liquids. Lower bottom hole pressure can translate into
recovery of substantial additicnal natural gas reserves.

Calliope has proven to be reliable and flexible over a wide range of applications on wells
the company owns and operates. It has alsc proven to be consistently successful.
Accordingly, the company has recently begun implementing strategies designed to widen the
envelope of wells on which Calliope should be installed.
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Realizing Calliope's value continues to be a top priority of the company. The company is
focused on three fronts to increase the number of Calliope installations: expanding the
geographic region for purchasing Calliope candidate wells from third parties, joint ventures
with larger companies, and drilling wells into low-pressure gas reservoirs for the purpose of
using Calliope to recover stranded natural gas reserves.

Higher natural gas prices have facilitated a new project to drill wells into low-pressure
natural gas reservoirs. Many low-pressure reservoirs, including abandoned fields, contain
substantial stranded natural gas that can be recovered by Calliope. This project is designed
to ramp-up the number of Calliope installations, improve the company's control over
monetizing Calliope's value, control configuration of wellbores for optimum Calliope
performance, and broaden the range of reservoirs for Calliope applications. Completed well
costs are estimated to be approximately $2,200,000 including installation of Calliope. The
company expects to commence drilling wells for Calliocpe applications in mid-2006 and is
considering bringing in industry participants for the project.

As previously reported, joint venture presentations have been made to a range of companies,
including several of the major oil and gas companies as well as several large independents.
All of these companies have expressed a keen interest in Calliope, and joint venture
discussions are continuing with several of those companies, including evaluation of candidate
wells.

In addition to joint ventures and the Calliope drilling project, the company has successfully
expanded its Calliope operations into Texas and Louisiana. In southwest Texas, the company
recently completed two prototype Calliope installations which once again broadened Calliope's
down-hole application, successfully lifting several times more fluid volume than Calliope has
previocusly lifted from the company's Oklahoma wells. Although this prototype Calliope
configuraticn limits the amount of natural gas that can be produced during the start-up and
dewatering phase, after initial dewatering and once liquid production stabilizes, the system
can be optimized to allow greater natural gas flow. In Louisiana, the company recently
completed the purchase of a Calliope candidate well in Acadia Parish. The well is currently
dead and will be evaluated for a Calliope installation in the first quarter of 2006. These
efforts are being spearheaded on a full-time basis by a highly qualified petroleum engineer
based in Houston.

Regerves. Refer to Item 2, "Properties, General, Estimated Proved 01l and Gas Reserves and
Future Net Reserves", for information regarding oil and gas reserves.

Results of Operations

In 2005, total revenues increased 35% to $13,957,000 compared to $10,314,000 last year. As
the o0il and gas price/volume table on page 19 shows, total gas price realizations, which
reflect hedging transactions, increased 34% to $6.16 per Mcf and oil price realizations
increased 39% to $50.90 per barrel. The net effect of these price changes was to increase
0il and gas sales by 53,253,000. Hedging losses were $719,000 in 2005 compared to $717,000
in 2004. During the same period, the company's gas equivalent production increased

% resulting in an increase to oil and gas sales of $523,000. Operating income increased
11% due to an increase in drilling and producticn supervision income related to operated
wells. Investment and other income decreased 57% primarily due to a decrease in other
income.

In 2005, total costs and expenses rose 28% to $6,695,000 compared to $5,244,000 for last
year. Oil and gas production expenses increased 33% due primarily to new wells.
Depreciation, depletion and amortization ("DD&A") increased 37% primarily due to increased
prcoduction volumes and an increase in the amortizable full cost pool. General and
administrative expenses increased 8% primarily due to increases in professiocnal fees and
salaries and benefit costs related primarily to increased administration resulting from rapid
growth, transition from small business SEC reporting status to full reporting status,
compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley regulations and preparation for accelerated filing
requirements related tc the company's quarterly and annual SEC reports. Interest expense
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relates to the exclusive license agreement note payment. The effective tax rate was 28% for
the 2005 and 2004 periods.

In 2004, total revenues rose 21% to $10,314,000 compared to $8,491,000 in 2003. As the oil
and gas price/volume table on page 19 shows, total gas price realizations, which reflect
hedging transactions, rose 2% to $4.60 per Mcf and oil price realizations rose 32% to

$36.57 per barrel. The net effect of these price changes was to increase oil and gas sales
by $448,000. Hedging losses were $717,000 in 2004 compared to $92,000 in 2003. Gas and oil
production both rose 18%. The net effect of these volume changes was to increase oil and gas
sales by $1,425,000. The increase in volumes resulted primarily from successful drilling in
2004 and 2003. Operating income rose 13% due to drilling supervision income and additional
operated wells. Investment income and other fell 26% due primarily to market declines.

In 2004, total costs and expenses rose 24% to $5,244,000 compared tc $4,244,000 in 2003. 0il
and gas producticn expenses rose 29% due primarily to increased production taxes on higher
revenues and new wells added during the year. DD&A increased 31% due primarily to increased
production volume. General and administrative expenses rose 10% primarily due to increases
in salaries and benefit costs. Interest expense relates to the exclusive license agreement
note payment. The effective tax rate was 28% in 2004 and 2003.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires the company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The company bases its
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions it believes to be
reascnable under the circumstances. Although actual results may differ from these estimates
under different assumptions or conditions, the company believes that its estimates are
reasonable and that actual results will not vary significantly from the estimated amounts.
The company believes the following accounting policies and estimates are critical in the
preparation of its consolidated financial statements: the carrying value of its oil and
natural gas properties, the accounting for oil and natural gas reserves, and the estimate of
its asset retirement obligations.

0il and Gas Properties. The company uses the full cost method of accounting for costs
related to its o0il and natural gas properties. Capitalized costs included in the full cost
pool are depleted on an aggregate basis using the units-of-production method. Depreciation,
depletion and amortization is a significant component of oil and natural gas properties. A
change in proved reserves without a corresponding change in capitalized costs will cause the
depletion rate to increase or decrease.

Both the volume of proved reserves and any estimated future expenditures used for the
depletion calculation are based on estimates gsuch ag those described under "Oil and Gas
Resexrves” below.

The capitalized costs in the full cost pocl are subject to a quarterly ceiling test that
limits such pooled costs to the aggregate of the present value of future net revenues
attributable to proved oil and natural gas reserves discounted at 10 percent plus the lower
of cost or market value of unproved properties less any associated tax effects. If such
capitalized costs exceed the ceiling, the company will record a write-down to the extent of
such excess as a non-cash charge to earnings. Any such write-down will reduce earnings in
the period of occurrence and result in lower depreciation and depletion in future periods. A
write-down may not be reversed in future periods, even though higher oil and natural gas
prices may subsequently increase the ceiling.

The company has made only cne ceiling write-dcwn in its 27-year history. That write down was
made in 1986 after oil prices fell 51% and natural gas prices fell 45% between fiscal year
end 1985 and 1986.
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Changes in cil and natural gas prices have historically had the most significant impact on
the company's ceiling test. In general, the ceiling is lower when prices are lower. Even
though oil and natural gas prices can be highly volatile over weeks and even days, the
ceiling calculation dictates that prices in effect as of the last day of the test period be
used and held constant. The resulting valuation is a snapshot as of that day and, thus, is
generally not indicative of a true fair value that would be placed on the company's reserves
by the company or by an independent third party. Therefore, the future net revenues
associated with the estimated proved reserves are not based on the company's assessment of
future prices or costs, but rather are based on prices and costs in effect as of the end the
test period.

0il and Gas Reserves. The determination of depreciation and depletion expense as well as
ceiling test write-downs related to the recorded value of the company's ¢il and natural gas
properties are highly dependent on the estimates of the proved oil and natural gas reserves.
0il and natural gas reserves include proved reserves that represent estimated quantities of
crude oil and natural gas which geclogical and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable
certainty tc be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and
operating conditions. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating oil and
natural gas reserves and their values, including many factors beyond the company's control.
Accordingly, reserve estimates are often different from the guantities of oil and natural gas
ultimately recovered and the corresponding lifting costs associated with the recovery of
these reserves.

The company's reserves, and reserve values, are concentrated in 54 properties ("Significant
Properties"). Some of the Significant Properties are individual wells and others are
multi-well properties. At October 31, 2005, the Significant Properties represent 28% of the
company's total properties but a disproportionate 76% of the discounted value (at 10%) of the
company's reserves. Individual wells on which the company's patented liquid lift system is
installed comprise 22% of the Significant Properties and represent 32% of the discounted
reserve value of such properties. Relatively new wells comprise 22% of the Significant
Properties and represent 24% of the discounted value of such properties.

Estimates of reserve quantities and values for certain Significant Properties must be viewed
as being subject to significant change as more data sbout the properties becomes available.
Such properties include wells with limited productiorn histories and properties with proved
undeveloped or proved non-producing reserves. In addition, the company's patented liquid
lift system is generally installed on mature wells. As such, they contain older down-hole
equipment that is more subject to failure than new ecuipment. The failure of such equipment,
particularly casing, can result in complete loss of a well. Historically, performance of the
company's wells has not caused significant revisions in its proved reserves.

Price changes will affect the economic lives of oil and gas properties and, therefore, price
changes may cause reserve revisions. Price changes have not caused significant proved
reserve revisions by the company except in 1986 when a 51% decline in oil prices and a

45% decline in natural gas prices resulted in an 8.7% reduction in estimated proved reserves.
Based upon this historical experience, the company does not believe its reserve estimates are
particularly sensitive to prices changes within historical ranges.

One measure of the life of the company's proved reserves can be calculated by dividing proved
reserves at fiscal year end 2005 by production for fiscal year 2005. This measure yields an
average reserve life of nine years. Since this measure is an average, by definition, scme of
the company's properties will have a life shorter than the average and some will have a life
longer than the average. The expected economic lives of the company's properties may vary
widely depending on, among other things, the size and quality, natural gas and oil prices,
possible curtailments in consumption by purchasers, and changes in govermmental regulations
or taxation. As a result, the company's actual future net cash flows from proved reserves
could be materially different from its estimates.

Agset Retirement Obligations. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 143,
"Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations" requires that the company estimate the future
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cost of asset retirement obligations, discount that cost to its present value, and record a
corresponding asset and liability in its Consolidated Balance Sheets. The values ultimately
derived are based on many significant estimates, including future abandonment costs,
inflation, market risk premiums, useful life, and cost of capital. The nature of these
estimates requires the company to make judgments based on historical experience and future
expectations. Revisions to the estimates may be required based on such things as changes to
cost estimates or the timing of future cash outlays. Any such changes that result in upward
or downward revisions in the estimated obligation will result in an adjustment to the related
capitalized asset and corresponding liability on a prospective basis.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued SFAS No. 153,
Exchange of Non-monetary Assets. This statement is based on the principle that exchanges of
non-menetary assets should be measured based on the fair value of the assets exchanges. SFAS
153 is effective for non monetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after
June 15, 2005. The company does not expect that the adoption of SFAS No. 153 will have an
impact on the company's financial statements.

The Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") recently issued guidance on the ways in which
its full-cost rules interact with the accounting requirements that the FASB established for
asset retirement cbligations — specifically, how SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset
Retirement Okligations, interacts with the full-cost requirements in Rule 4-10 of Regulation
S-X (Rule 4-10). The SEC's new guidance appears in Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 106
issued in October 2004. The adoption of SAB No. 106 did not have an impact on the company's
financial statements.

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation (FIN) No. 47, "Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations — An Interpretation of SFAS No. 143", which clarifies the term
"conditional asset retirement obligaticn” used in SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations", and specifically when an entity would have sufficient information to
reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. The adoption did not
have an impact on the company's financial statements.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, "Accounting Changes and Error Corrections", which
replaces Accounting principles Board Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes and SFAS No. 3.

SFAS 154 provides guidance on the accounting for and reporting of accounting changes and
error corrections. It establishes retrospective application, or the latest practicable date,
as the required method for reporting a change in accounting principle and the reporting of a
correcticn of an error. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes and corrections of
errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The company does not expect
that the adoption of SFAS No. 154 will have an impact on the company's financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), "Share-Based Payment", that
addresses the accounting for share-based payment transactions in which a company receives
employee services in exchange for (a) equity instruments of the company or (b) liabilities
that are based on the fair value of the company's equity instruments or that may be settled
by the issuance of such equity instruments. SFAS No. 123R addresses all forms of
share-based payment awards, including shares issued under employee stock purchase plans,
stock options, restricted stock and stock appreciation rights. SFAS No. 123R eliminates the
ability to account for share-based compensation transactions using APB Cpinion No. 25,
"Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees", that was provided in Statement 123 as originally
issued. Under SFAS No. 123R companies are required to record compensation expense for all
share based payment award transactions measured at fair value. This statement is effective
for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The company will implement SFAS 123R in the
first quarter of the company’s fiscal year begimning November 1, 2005. The company is
currently evaluating the impact of this new standard, and estimates that the impact of
applying the various provisions of SFAS No. 123R will result in an expense similar to the
pro-forma effects reported elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K if all current

24




unvested stock options vest on the scheduled dates and the assumptions in the Black-Scholes
model remain the same.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The company manages exposure to commodity price fluctuations by periodically hedging a
portion of estimated natural gas production through the use of derivatives, typically collars
and forward short positions in the NYMEX futures market. See "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Product Prices and Production" for
more information on the company's hedging activities. The company currently has no open
hedge positions.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Octcber 31, 2005 and 2004

CREDO PETROLEUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents....... ... ... i .
Short-term Investments . .. ...ttt ittt et ee i
Receivables:
o= T 1=
Accrued oil and gas sales ........ ...
Other CUurrent asSSeES . ...t ii ittt

Total current asSets ... ...i.u ittt
Long-term assets:
0il and gas properties, at cost, using full cost method:

Unevaluated oil and gas properties..........c.vvennn.
Evaluated oil and gas properties......................
Less: accumulated depreciation, depletion and
amortization of oil and gas properties...............
Net o0il and gas properties, at cost, using
full cost method ... ... . i
Exclusive license agreement, net of accumulated
amortization of $361,000 in 2005 and $291,000 in 2004..

8 0= 0 o o

[0 o8 s = o 1= OO

Total asseh . . it i e e e e

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities................
Income taxes payable. ... ... ... . ..

Total current liabilities............ ... i,

Long-term liabilities:
Deferred income taxes, MNeL .. .. ...ttt tiennnnennnnnns

Exclusive license obligation, less current
obligations of $64,000 in 2005 and
S5B8,000 1in 2004 . . .. ittt e e e e e

Asset retirement obligation............. . ... . i,
Total liabilities ...... ...ttt
Commitments:

Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, no par value, 5,000,000 shares
authorized, none issued......... ...t iiiinnnn..
Common stock, $.10 par value, 20,000,000 shares
authorized, 9,510,000 shares issued and
outstanding in 2005 and 2004.. .. ...ttt ittt
Capital in excess of par valu€. ... ... .o iriinienneneannn
Treasury stock, at cost, 393,000 shares in 2005,
and 454,000 shares in 2004 ... ... ..ttt inn i inennnann
Accumulated other comprehensive loss........... ...
Retained earnings net of $6,277,000 related to
20% stock dividend in 2003. ... ... . .t e
Total stockholders' equity ........ ..,

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity................

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2005

$ 1,935,000
5,495,000

1,003,000
2,776,000

245,000

11,454,000

3,452,000
36,121,000

(15,022,000)

2004

$ 518,000
6,371,000

1,019,000
2,051,000

58,000

10,017,000

2,174,000
30,072,000

(12,737,000)

24,551,000

338,000
1,288,000

213,000

§ 37,844,000

$ 3,426,000

331,000

3,757,000

5,978,000

233,000
929,000

10,897,000

951,000
12,486,000

(125,000)
(306,000)

13,941,000

26,947,000

§ 37,844,000

19,509,000

408,000
883,000

159,000

§._ 30,976,000

$ 4,394,000

12,000

4,406,000

4,605,000

287,000
748,000

10,056,000

951,000
12,146,000

(452,000)
(437,000)

8,712,000

20,920,000

§ 30,976,000




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Three Years Ended October 31, 2005

CREDO PETROLEUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

2005 2004 2003
Revenues:
01l and gas SaleS .. ...ttt e $13,143,000 $ 9,367,000 $ 7,494,000
Operating. . ... e 668,000 €04, 000 536,000
Investment and other income......................... 146,000 343,000 461,000
................................................... 13,957,000 10,314,000 8,491,000
Costs and expenses:
011 and gas produCtion. ... ...ttt i 2,75%,000 2,075,000 1,608,000
Depreciation, depletion and
F-Y11To b al o 13- 8 vl e ) o N R 2,402,000 1,747,000 1,333,000
General and administrative.......... ... 1,497,000 1,383,000 1,257,000
I B S o e e 37,000 39,000 46,000
................................................... 6,695,000 5,244,000 4,244,000
Income before income taxes and cumulative
effect of accounting change...............uuunnnon 7,262,000 5,070,000 4,247,000
INCOME BAXES . o v vt vt ettt e it et et et et e e e s ensan (2,033,000) (1,420,000) (1,189,000)
Income before cumulative effect of
accounting change........c.ci ittt esnnrtorsnaesane 5,229,000 3,650,000 3,058,000
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
pPrinciple. . . e - - 72,000
Net QnCOmMe .. ... .ttt i i et e e e $ 5,229,000 S 3,650,000 $ 3,130,000
Basic income per share before accounting change....... $ .58 S .40 S .34
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle, net of tax....... ... .. ... i - - .01
Bagsic income per share........vovevieeeereranans Ceeaen $. .58 S .40 s .35
Diluted income per share before accounting change..... $ .56 $ .39 $ .34
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle, net of tax...... ... i e - - .01
Diluted income per share............. ... .. iiinrennn. s .56 s .39 s .35
Weighted average number of shares of
common stock and dilutive securities:
2= = -.5,080,000 9,036,000 8,869,000
Diluted . ottt e e e e e e 9,367,000 9,282,000 2,042,000

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'
For the Three Years Ended October 31,

2005

EQUITY

CREDO PETROLEUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Accunulated
Capital In Other Total
Common Stock Excess Of Treasury Comprehensive Comprehensive Retained Stockholders'
Shares Amount Par Value Stock  Income (Loss) Income Earnings Equity
Balances, October 31, 2002................ 8,034,000 $803,000 $ 6,017,000 $({759,000) § 37,000 $ 8,209,000 $14,307,000
Comprehensive income:
Net income .......oovivii i - - - - - $3,130,000 3,130,000 3,130,000
Other comprehensive income (loss), net
of tax: Change in fair value of
derivatives ...... ... - - - - 143,000 143,000 - 143,000
Comprehensive income .................... - - - - - $3,273,000 -
207 stock dividend................ ... ... 1,476,000 148,000 6,129,000 - - (6,277,000) -
Purchase of treasury stock................ - - - (1,000) - - (1,000)
Exercise of stock options................. - - - 56,000 - - 56,000
Balances, Ogtober 31, 2003................ 9,510,000 951,000 12,146,000 (704,000) 180,000 5,062,000 17,835,000
Comprehensive income:
Net income ............oociiiiiin - - - - - $3,650,000 3,650,000 3,650,000
Other comprehensive income (loss), net
of tax: Change in fair value of
derivatives ............ .l - - - - (617,000) (617,000) - (617,000)
Comprehensive income .................... - - - - - $3,033,000 -
Purchase of treasury stock................ - - - (39,000) - - (39,000)
Exercise of stock options................. - - - 291,000 - - 291,000
Balances, October 31, 2004................ 9,510,000 951,000 12,146,000 (452,000) (437,000) 8,712,000 20,920,000
Comprehensive income: '
Net income .......... v - - - - - $5,229,000 5,229,000 5,229,000
Other comprehensive income (loss), net
of tax: Change in fair.value of
derivatives ... ... o i - - - - 131,000 131,000 - 131,000
Comprehensive income .................... $5,360,000
Purchase of treasury stock................ - - - (8,000) - - {(8,000)
Exercise of common stock options.......... - - - 335,000 - - 335,000
Tax benefit from the exercise of common
stock options............. ... ... - - 340,000 - - - 340,000
Balance, Qctober 31, 2005................. 9,510,000 $951,000 $12,486,000 $(125,000) $(306,000) $13,941,000 $26,947,000

See accompanying notes to consclidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Three Years Ended October 31,

2005

CREDO PETROLEUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to

net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and
AMOYELIZALION ¢ v vt s
Deferred income £axes .......c.eveiininnrenernnnn
Cumulative effect of change in

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Proceeds from short-term investments ...........
Purchase of short-term investments .............
Trade receivables ........ ... .. it
Accrued oil and gas sales ...
Other current assets ....... . i
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities.......
Income taxes payable ... ... ... ... i

Net cash provided by operating activities ..........

Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to oil and gas properties
Proceeds from sale of oil and gas properties ....
Changes in other long-term assets ................

Net cash used in investing activities ..............

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options ..........
Purchase of treasury stock ...........oiiuveennnnn

Principal payment on exclusive license cbligation ..

Net cash provided by financing activities ..........

Increase (decrease) in cash and

cash equivalents ............oiiiiieiinennniian.a,

Cash and cash equivalents:

Beginning of period ......... .. i

End of period .. ..ot e e

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:

Cash paid during the period for income taxes .....
Cash paid during the period for interest .........

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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— 2005

$ 5,229,000

2,402,000
1,373,000

2,500,000
(1,624,000)

16,000
(725,000)

299,000
(968,000)

_..318,000

2004 2003

$ 3,650,000 $ 3,130,000
1,747,000 1,333,000
1,496,000 1,016,000
- (72,000)
34,000 6,000
944,000 5,261,000
(2,537,000) (4,453,000)
{609,000) 167,000
(795,000) (721,000)
95,000 299,000
791,000 (236,000)
(198,000) 161,000

__ 8,821,000 4,618,000 5,891,000
(6,938,000) (5,671, 000) (5,520,000)
180,000 317,000 526,000
. __(909,000) (825, 000) (338, 000)
(7,667,000} {(6,179,000) (5,332,000)
335,000 291,000 56,000
(8,000) (39,000) (1,000)
(64,000) (58,000) (53,000)
263,000 194,000 2,000
1,417,000 (1,367,000) 561,000
518,000 1,885,000 1,324,000
$ 1,935,000 $ 518,000 $ 1.885,000
$ _ 100,000 $ 194,000 s -
$ 36,000 s 41,000 s 46,000




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
October 31, 2005

CREDC PETROLEUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of CREDO Petroleum Corporation
and its wholly owned subsidiaries (the "company"). The company engages in oil and gas
acquisition, exploration, development and production activities in the United States.
Certain operations are conducted through limited partnerships and limited liability
companies which, as general partner or member company, the company manages and controls.
The company's interests in these entities are combined on the proportionate share basis in
accordance with accepted industry practice. All significant intercompany transactions have
been eliminated. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts with no
effect on previously reported net income. All references to years in these Notes refer to
the company's fiscal October 31 year. The company effected a three-for two stock split in
each of fiscal 2005 and 2004. All share and per share amounts discussed and disclosed in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflect the effect of these stock splits.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Short-Term Investments

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less. At October 31, 2005, approximately 52% of short-term investments are mutual
funds. Other short-term investments consist primarily of professiocnally managed limited
partnerships which provide readily determinable market values and short-term liquidity. The
partnerships are invested primarily in financial instruments. Unrealized gains on limited
partnerships are not significant. Short-term investments are classified as "trading" and
are stated at fair value with realized and unrealized gains and losses immediately
recognized.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Substantially all of the company's receivables are within the oil and natural gas industry,
primarily from purchasers of oil and gas and from joint interest owners. These receivables
are due from many companies with collectability being dependent upon the financial
wherewithal of each individual company as well as the general economic conditions of the
industry. The receivables are not collateralized. To date the company has had minimal bad
debts.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The company's financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable
and accounts payable are carried at cost, which approximates fair value due to the short-
term maturity of these instruments.

Revenue Recognition

The company derives its revenue primarily from the sale of produced natural gas and crude
0il. The company reports revenue gross for the amounts received before taking into account
production taxes and transportation costs which are reported as separate expenses. Revenue
is recorded in the month production is delivered to the purchaser at which time title
changes hands. Payment is generally received between 30 and 90 days after the date of
production. The company makes estimates of the amount of production delivered to purchasers
and the prices it will receive. The company uses its knowledge of its properties; their
historical performance; the anticipated effect of weather conditions during the month of
production; NYMEX and local spot market prices; and other factors as the basis for these
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estimates. Variances between estimates and the actual amounts received are recorded when
payment is received.

A majority of the company's sales are made under contractual arrangements with terms that are
considered to be usual and customary in the oil and gas industry. The contracts are for
periods of up to five years with prices determined based upon a percentage of a
pre-determined and published monthly index price. The terms of these contracts have not had
an effect on how the company recognizes its revenue.

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from :those estimates. Significant estimates
with regard to these financial statements include the estimate of proved oil and natural gas
reserve quantities and the related present value of estimated future net cash flows
therefrom.

0il and Gas Properties

The company uses the full cost method of accounting for costs related to its oil and natural
gas properties. Capitalized costs included in the full cost pool are depleted on an
aggregate basis using the units-of-production method. Depreciation, depletion and
amortization is a significant component of oil and natural gas properties. A change in
proved reserves without a corresponding change in capitalized costs will cause the depletion
rate to increase or decrease.

Both the volume of proved reserves and any estimated future expenditures used for the
depletion calculation are based on estimates such as those described under "0Oil and Gas
Reserves" below.

The capitalized costs in the full cost pool are subject to a quarterly ceiling test that
limits such pooled costs to the aggregate of the present value of future net revenues
attributable to proved oil and natural gas reserves discounted at 10 percent plus the lower
of cost or market value of unproved properties less any associated tax effects. If such
capitalized costs exceed the ceiling, the company will record a write-down to the extent of
such excess as a non-cash charge to earnings. 2Any such write-down will reduce earnings in
the period of occurrence and result in lower depreciation and depletion in future periods. A
write-down may not be reversed in future periods, even though higher oil and natural gas
prices may subsequently increase the ceiling.

The company has made only one ceiling write-down in its 27-year history. That write down was
made in 1986 after oil prices fell 51% and natural gas prices fell 45% between fiscal year
end 1985 and 1986.

Changes in oil and natural gas prices have historically had the most significant impact on
the company's ceiling test. In general, the ceiling is lower when prices are lower. Even
though oil and natural gas prices can be highly volatile over weeks and even days, the
ceiling calculation dictates that prices in effect as of the last day of the test period be
used and held constant. The resulting valuation is a snapshot as of that day and, thus, is
generally not indicative of a true fair value that would be placed on the company's reserves
by the company or by an independent third party. Therefore, the future net revenues
associated with the estimated proved reserves are nof based on the company's assessment of
future prices or costs, but rather are based on prices and costs in effect as of the end the
test pericd.
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0il and Gas Reserves

The determination of depreciation and depletion expense as well as ceiling test write-downs
related to the recorded value of the company's oil and natural gas properties are highly
dependent on the estimates of the proved oil and natural gas reserves. Oil and natural gas
reserves include proved reserves that represent estimated quantities of crude oil and natural
gas which geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be
recoverable in future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating
conditiong. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating oil and natural gas
reserves and their values, including many factors beyond the company's control. Accordingly,
reserve estimates are often different from the quantities of 0il and natural gas ultimately
recovered and the corresponding lifting costs associated with the recovery of these reserves.

The company's reserves, and reserve values, are concentrated in 54 properties ("Significant
Properties"). Some of the Significant Properties are individual wells and others are
multi-well properties. At October 31, 2005, the Significant Properties represent 28% of the
company's total properties but a disproportionate 76% of the discounted value (at 10%) of the
company's reserves. Individual wells on which the company's patented liquid lift system is
installed comprise 22% of the Significant Properties and represent 32% of the discounted
reserve value of such properties. Relatively new wells comprise 22% of the Significant
Properties and represent 24% of the discounted value of such properties.

Estimates of reserve quantities and values for certain Significant Properties must be viewed
as being subject to significant change as more data about the properties becomes available.
Such properties include wells with limited production histories and properties with proved
undevelcped or proved non-producing reserves. In addition, the company's patented liquid
1ift system is generally installed on mature wells. As such, they contain older down-hole
equipment that is more subject to failure than new equipment. The failure of such egquipment,
particularly casing, can result in complete loss of a well. Historically, performance of the
company's wells has not caused significant revisions in its proved reserves.

Price changes will affect the economic lives of oil and gas properties and, therefore, price
changes may cause reserve revisions. Price changes have not caused significant proved
reserve revisions by the company except in 1986 when a 51% decline in oil prices and a 45%
decline in natural gas prices resulted in an 8.7% reduction in estimated proved reserves.
Based upon this historical experience, the company does not believe its reserve estimates are
particularly sensitive to prices changes within historical ranges.

One measure of the life of the company's proved reserves can be calculated by dividing proved
reserves at fiscal year end 2005 by production for fiscal year 2005. This measure yields an
average reserve life of nine years. Since this measure is an average, by definition, some of
the company's properties will have a life shorter than the average and some will have a life
longer than the average. The expected economic lives of the company's properties may vary
widely depending on, among other things, the size and quality, natural gas and oil prices,
possible curtailments in consumption by purchasers, and changes in governmental regulations
or taxation. As a result, the company's actual future net cash flows from proved reserves
could be materially different from its estimates.

Asset Retirement Obligations.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 143, "Accounting for Asset
Retirement Ckligations" requires that the company estimate the future cost of asset
retirement ckligations, discount that cost to its present value, and record a corresponding
asset and liability in its Consolidated Balance Sheets. The values ultimately derived are
based on many significant estimates, including future abandonment costs, inflation, market
risk premiums, useful life, and cost of capital. The nature of these estimates requires the
company to make judgments based on historical experience and future expectations. Revisions
to the estimates may be required based on such things as changes to cost estimates or the
timing of future cash cutlays. 2ny such changes that result in upward or downward revisions
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in the estimated obligation will result in an adjustment to the related capitalized asset and
corresponding liability on a prospective basis. A reconciliation of the company's asset
retirement cbligation liability is as follows:

October 31,

2005 2004

Beginning asset retirement obligation ................... $ 748,000 3 238,000
ACCrelilon EXPemSe. v ittt e e e e e e e 43,000 (10,000)
Obligations incurred......... ..ttt 44,000 23,000
Obligations settled........ ...ttt s (56,000) (6,000)
Change in estimate. .. ... ...t 150,000 503,000
Ending asset retirement obligation ...................... s 925,000 s 748,000

Change in Accounting Principle

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations" that requires entities to record the fair value of a liability
for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which it is incurred and a corresponding
increase in the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. This statement is effective
for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The company adopted SFAS No. 143 on
November 1, 2002 and recorded an asset and related liability of $179,000 (using a 5% discount
rate) and a cumulative effect on change in accounting principle on prior years of $72,000
(net of taxes of $28,000).

Environmental Matters

Environmental costs are expensed or capitalized depending on their future economic benefit.
Costs that relate to an existing condition caused by past operations with no future economic
benefit are expensed. Liabilities for future expenditures of a non-capital nature are
recorded when future environmental expenditures and/or remediation is deemed probable and the
costs can be reasonably estimated. Costs of future expenditures for environmental
remediation obligations are not discounted to their present value.

Long-Lived Assets

The company applies SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets", to long-lived assets not included in oil and gas properties. Under SFAS No. 144,
all long-lived assets are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable. The carrying amount
of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows
expected to result from its use and eventual disposition. 2n impairment loss is recognized
when the carrying value of a long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value.

Income Taxes

The company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income
Taxes", which requires the use of the asset and liability method of computing deferred income
taxes. The objective of the asset and liability method is to establish deferred tax assets
and liabilities for the temporary differences between the book basis and the tax basis of the
company's assets and liabilities at enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when such
amounts are realized or settled.

Natural Gas Price Hedging

The company periodically hedges the price of a portion of its estimated natural gas
production when the potential for significant downward price movement is anticipated. Hedging
transactions typically take the form of forward short positions and collars on the NYMEX
futures market, and are closed by purchasing offsetting positions. Such hedges, which are
accounted for as cash flow hedges, do not exceed estimated production volumes, are
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expected to have reasonable correlation between price movements in the futures market and the
cash markets where the company's production is located, and are authorized by the company's
Board of Directors. Hedges are expected to be closed as related production occurs but may be
.closed earlier if the anticipated downward price movement occurs or if the company believes
that the potential for such movement has abated.

The company recognizes all derivatives (consisting solely of cash flow hedges) on the balance
sheet at fair value at the end of each period. Changes in the fair value of a cash flow
hedge are recorded in Stockholders' Equity as Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income(Loss) on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets and then are reclassified into the Consolidated Statement of
Operations as the underlying hedged item affects earnings. Amounts reclassified into
earnings related to natural gas hedges are included in oil and gas sales.

Hedging gains and losses are recognized as adjustments to gas sales as the hedged product is
produced. The company had after tax hedging losses of $518,000 in fiscal 2005 and after tax
hedging losses of $516,000 in fiscal 2004. Any hedge ineffectiveness, which was not material
for the three years ended COctober 31, 2005, is immediately recognized in natural gas sales.
Subsequent to October 31, 2005, the company closed its December 2005 and January 2006
contracts at expiration (120 MMbtu) with an after tax hedging loss of $227,000. The company
currently has no open hedge positicns.

The company has a hedging line of credit with its bank which is available, at the discretion
of the company, to meet margin calls. To date, the company has not used this facility and
maintains it only as a precaution related to possible margin calls. The maximum credit line
is $2,000,000 with interest calculated at the prime rate. The facility is unsecured and has
covenants that require the company to maintain $3,000,000 in cash or short term investments
and prohibits unfunded debt in excess of $500,000. It expires on Octocber 31, 2006.

Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation -

Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of SFAS No. 123". Among other provisions, the
statement amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation". Under current accounting rules the company elected to account for its stock-

based employee compensation under the intrinsic value method established by Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees".

The average fair value of each option granted was $8.93 in 2005 and $5.78 in 2003. No
options were granted in 2004. All option grants were made with an exercise price equal to
the market price on the date of grant. The fair value was estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing medel with an expected average volatility of 48% in
2005 and 52% in 2003, a risk-free interest rate of 4% in 2005 and 3% in 2003, no =xpected
dividends, and average expected terms of five years.
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If compensation expense had been determined in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS No. 123, the company's net income and per share amounts would have been reported as
follows:

Years Ended October 31,

2005 2004 2003

Net income as reported........................ $ 5,229,000 $ 3,650,000 $ 3,130,000
Fair value of stock-based compensation,

net of LaX . ...t e e (207,000) (282,000) (428,000)
Pro forma net income.......... ..., $ 5,022,000 $.3,368,000 S 2,702,000
Net income per share, basic:

As reported. .. ... ... $ _ .58 $ .40 s .35

Pro forma......... ..t $ .55 s .37 S .30
Net income per share, diluted:

As reported. ... ...t e e e e s _ .56 s .39 $ .35

Pro forma.......... i e e $ .54 $___.36 s .30

Per Share Amounts

Basic income per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares outstanding.
Diluted inccome per share reflects the potential dilution that would occur if stock options
were exercised using the average market price for the company's stock for the period. Total
potential dilutive shares based on coptions cutstanding at October 31, 2005 were 485,000.

The company's calculation of earnings per share of common stock is as follows:

Year Ended October 31,

2005 2004 2003
Net Net Net
Income Income Income
Net Per Net Per Net Per
Income Shares Share Income Shares Share Income Shares Share
Basic earnings
per share....... $5,229,000 9,080,000 $.58B $3,650,000 9,036,000 $.40 $3,130,000 8,869,000 $.35
Effect of dilutive
shares of common
stock from
stock options... - 287,000 (.02) - 246,000 (.01) - 173,000 -
Diluted
earnings
per share....... 55,229,000 9,367,000 $.56 $3,650,000 9,282,000 $.39 $2,130,000 9,042,000 £.35

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, "Exchange of Non-monetary Assets". This
statement is based on the principle that exchanges of non-monetary assets should be measured
based on the fair value of the assets exchanges. SFAS 153 is effective for non monetary
asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The company does
not expect that the adoption of SFAS No. 153 will have an impact on the company's financial
statements.

The Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") recently issued guidance on the ways in which
its full-cost rules interact with the accounting requirements that the FASB established for
.asset retirement obligations — specifically, how SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations", interacts with the full-cost requirements in Rule 4-10 of
Regulation S-X (Rule 4-10). The SEC's new guidance appears in Staff Accounting Bulletin
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(SAB) No. 106 issued in October 2004. The adoption of SAB No. 106 did not have an impact on
the company's financial statements.

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation (FIN) No. 47, "Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations — An Interpretation of SFAS No. 143”, which clarifies the term
"conditional asset retirement obligation" used in SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations", and specifically when an entity would have sufficient information to
reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. The adoption did not
have an impact on the company's financial statements.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, "Accounting Changes and Error Corrections", which
replaces Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes and SFAS No. 3.

SFAS 154 provides guidance on the accounting for and reporting of accounting changes and
error corrections. It establishes retrospective application, or the latest practicable date,
as the required methed for reporting a change in accounting principle and the reporting of a
correction of an error. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes and correcticns of
errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The company does not expect
that the adoption of SFAS No. 154 will have an impact on the company's financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), "Share-Based Payment", that
addresses the accounting for share-based payment transactions in which a company receives
employee services in exchange for (a) equity instruments of the company or (b) liabilities
that are based on the fair value of the company's equity instruments or that may be settled
by the issuance of such equity instruments. SFAS No. 123R addresses all forms of share-based
payment awards, including shares issued under employee stock purchase plans, stock options,
restricted stock and stock appreciation rights. SFAS No. 123R eliminates the ability to
account for share-based compensation transactions using APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees", that was provided in Statement 123 as originally issued. Under
SFAS No. 123R companies are required to record compensation expense for all share based
payment award transactions measured at fair value. This statement is effective for fiscal
years beginning after June 15, 2005. The company will implement SFAS 123R in the first
quarter of the company’s fiscal year beginning November 1, 2005. The company is currently
evaluating the impact of this new standard, and estimates that the impact of applying the
varicus provisiocns of SFAS No. 123R will result in an expense similar to the pro-forma
effects reported elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K if all current unvested stock
options vest on the scheduled dates and the assumptions in the Black-Scholes model remain the
same.

(2) COMMON STOCK AND PREFERRED STOCK

The company nas authorized 20,000,000 shares of $0.10 par value common stock of which
9,510,000 have been issued and are outstanding. In addition, the company has authorized
5,000,000 shares of preferred stock which may be issued in series and with preferences as
determined by the company's Board of Directors. Approximately 100,000 shares of the
company 's authorized but unissued preferred stock have been reserved for issuance pursuant to
the provisions of the company's Shareholders' Rights Plan.

On September 13, 2005, the company declared a 3-for-2 stock split to shareholders of record
on September 26, 2005. Accordingly, 3,170,000 additional shares were issued on

October 11, 2005. Common stock has been increased by the par value of the shares issued with
a corresponding decrease in capital in excegs of par value for all periods presented.

On March 24, 2004, the company declared a 3-for-2 stock split to shareholders of record on
April 5, 2004. Accordingly, 2,006,000 additional shares were issued on April 20, 2004.
Common stock has been increased by the par value of the shares issued with a corresponding
decrease in capital in excess of par value.

On March 19, 2003, the company declared a 20% stock dividend to shareholders of record on

April 2, 2003. On April 23, 2003, the company issued 656,000 shares of common stock in
conjunction with this dividend. Accordingly, the fair value based on the quoted market
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price of the additional shares issued of $6,277,000 was charged to retained earnings and
credited to common stock and capital in excess of par value. Cash payments were made to
shareholders in lieu of fractional shares.

The company's 1997 Stock Option Plan (the "Plan"), as amended and restated effective
October 25, 2001, authorizes the granting of incentive and nonqualified opticns to purchase
shares of the company's common stock. The Plan is administered by the Board of Directors
which determines the terms pursuant to which any option is granted. The Plan provides that
upon a change in control of the company, options then outstanding will immediately vest and
the company will take such actions as are necessary to make all shares subject to options

immediately salable and transferable. Plan activity is set forth below and has been adjusted

for the 3-for-2 stock splits in fiscal 2005 and 2004 and the 20% stock dividend in 2003.

Years Ended October 31,

2005 2004 2003
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Number of Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Options Price Optionsg Price Options Price
Outstanding at
beginning
of year ......... 565,875 $ 7.11 726,705 $ 4.74 258,930 $ 1.88
Granted........ 33,750 8.93 - - 554,625 5.78
Exercised...... (61,686) 5.43 (160,330) 1.88 (45,225) 1.25
Cancelled
or forfeited.. (52,875) 6.01 - - (41,625) 4.74
Outstanding
at end of year .. 485,064 s 5.78 565,375 s 7.11 726,705 S  4.74
Exercisable at
end of year ..... 348,114 § 5.64 267,048 $§ _5.55 254,763 § 3.21
Weighted average
contractual life
at end of year .. 1.7 1.8 — 1.2
The following able summarizes information about stock options cutstanding at
October 31, 2005:
Qutstanding Exercisable
Number Weighted Average Weighted Number
Range of Outstanding Remaining Average Exercisable at Weighted
Exercise at October 31, Contractual Exercisge October 31, Average
Prices 2005 Life in Year Price 2005 Exercise Price
$ 3.09-% 3.72 ... 69,750 7.09 $  3.46 40,313 $ 3.41
$ 5.93-$§ 8.93 ... 415,314 7.83 S 6.17 307,801 $ 5.93
$ 3.09-$ 8.93 ... _485,064 7.71 $ 5.78 348,114 $ 5.64

(3) COMMITMENTS

The company leases office facilities under an operating lease agreement which expires
April 30, 2006. The lease agreement requires payments of $43,000 in 2005 and $21,500

in 2006. Total rental expense was $79,000 in 2005, $77,000 in 2004, and $73,000 in 2003.
The company has no capital leases and no other operating lease commitments.
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At October 31, 2005, the company had remaining estimated capital commitments of $708,000 related
to the South Texas project and $508,000 related to the north central Kansas project. Such costs,
which include overhead, lease bonuses, land services and 3-D seismic, are expected to be funded
over the next 12 to 15 months for both projects. Total costs incurred during 2005 for the Scuth
Texas project was $793,000 and $502,000 for the north central Kansas project.

(4) BENEFIT PLANS
Profit Sharing 401 (k) Plan

The company has a established a 401 (k) plan for the benefit of its employees. Eligible
employees may make voluntary contributions not exceeding statutory limitations to the plan.
These contributions may be matched by the company, at its discretion. Historically, the
company has made matching contributicns ranging from 40% to 5C% of the employees annual
contributions. Matching contributions recorded in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $39,000,
$35,000 and $25,000, respectively.

Other Company Benefits

The company provides a health and welfare benefit plan toc all regular full-time employees.
The plan includes health insurance.

(5) COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Comprehensive income includes all changes in equity during a period except those resulting
from investments by owners and distributions to owners. The components of comprehensive

income for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

October 31,

2005 2004 2003
Net InCome . ...ttt ittt e et ettt i e $ 5,229,000 $ 3,650,000 $ 3,130,000
Other comprehensive income(loss):
Change in fair value of derivatives ..... 182,000 (857,000) 199,000
Income tax (expense) benefits............ (51,000) 240,000 (56,000)
Total comprehensive income ............... S 5,360,000 S 3,033,000 S 3,273,000

The following table sets forth a reccnciliation of the company's accumulated
gain(loss) on derivatives for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.

October 31,

2005 2004 2003
Accumulated gain (loss) on derivatives:
Balance beginning of period............. $ (437,000) s 180,000 s 37,000
Realization of hedging gain (losses).... 10,000 (176,000) (9,000)
Net unrealized gain (losses) on price
hedge contracts ............. ... .. 121,000 (441,000) 152,000
Balance end of period................... 5 (306,000) 3 (437,000) § 180,000

(6) INCOME TAXES

The deferred income tax liability is extremely complicated for any energy company to estimate
due in part to the long-lived nature of depleting oil and gas reserves and variables such as
product prices. Accordingly, the liability is subject to continual recalculaticn, revision
of the numerous estimates required, and may change significantly in the event of such things
as major acquisitions, divestitures, product price changes, changes in reserve estimates,
changes in reserve liveg, and changes in tax rates or tax laws.

At Octocber 31, 2005 the company had $655,000 of statutory depletion carry forward for tax
return purpcses.
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The income tax expense recorded in the Consolidated Statements cf Operations consists of the
following:

Years Ended October 31,

2005 2004 2003
(OB a1 o | /O $ 715,000 S 114,000 $ 173,000
Deferred ...... ittt i e 1,318,000 1,306,000 1,016,000
Total income tax eXpPense ................. $ 2,033,000 S 1,420,000 51,189,000

The effective income tax rate differs from the U.S. Faderal statutory income tax rate due to
the following:

Years Ended Oc¢tober 31,

2005 2004 2003

Federal statutory income tax rate ........ 34% 34% 34%
State income LaAXES ... ...t 2 2 2
Percentage depletion ......... ... ... (8) (8) (8)

28% 28% 28%

The principal sources of temporary differences resulting in deferred tax assets and tax
liabilities at Octcber 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

October 31,
2005 2004
Deferred tax assets:
Gain on property sales........cii i, $ 564,000 S 505,000
Total deferred tax assetsS........ ... 564,000 505,000
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible drilling, leasehold and
other exploration costs capitalized
for financial reporting purposes but
deducted for tax PUXPOSES ... v vv it in e (5,760,000) (4,714,000)
State taxes and other .......... .. i, (782,000) (396,000)
Total deferred tax liabilities.................... (6,542,000) (5,110,000)
Net deferred tax liability .......... ... ... .. .. ... 5 _(5,978,000) S {(4,605,000)

(7) EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AGREEMENT OBLIGATION

On September 1, 2000, the company acquired an unrestricted, exclusive license for patented
technology. The initial license term was 10 years and includes an option for the company to
extend the term to the remaining life of the patents. The licensor will receive a net

8.3% carried interest in any installation of the technology. The license purchase price was
$1,115,000, of which $818,000 has been paid. The balance, which is due in four remaining
annual increments of $93,750, is recorded at 10% present value. The related assets are being
amortized over 10 years on a straight-line basis. If the option to extend the license after
the initial 10-year term is exercised, the cost will be $93,750 per year to the expiration of
the last patent.
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October 31, 2005

Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization
Amortized intangible assets:
Exclusive license agreement ............ S 699,000 s 361,000
Aggregate amortization expense:
For the year ended October 31, 2005.... S 70,000

Estimated future amortization expense:

For the year ended Octcber 31, 2006.... $ 70,000
For the year ended October 31, 2007 .... 70,000
For the year ended October 31, 2008 .... 70,000
For the year ended October 31, 2009.... 70,000
For the year ended October 31, 2010.... 58,000

Total ... e e e e S 338,000

This amortizable intangible asset is an exclusive license agreement related solely to the
company's patented liquid lift system for low pressure gas wells.

The company reviews the value of its intangible assets in accordance with SFAS No. 142,
"Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets", which requires that it evaluate these assets for
impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable or that the useful lives of these assets
are no longer appropriate.

At October 31, 2005, this amortizable intangible asset had a net book value of $338,000. The
value of this asset is believed to be realizable based on the company's estimation of future
cash flows from application of the company's patented liquid lift system. The company's
impairment test compares the estimated undiscounted future net cash flows related to this
asset with the related net capitalized costs of the asset at the end of each period. If the
net capitalized cost exceeds the undiscounted future net cash flows, the cost of the asset is
written down to estimated fair value. BAs of October 31, 2005, the company has not recorded
an impairment write-down for this asset. The estimated undiscounted value of future net cash
flows is derived from estimates of proved reserve values.

(8) SUPPLEMENTARY OIL AND GAS INFORMATION
Capitalized Costs

October 31,
2004

2005 2003

Unevaluated properties not being

amortized
Properties being amortized .............
Accumulated depreciation,

$ 3,452,000
36,121,000

$ 2,174,000
30,072,000

$ 2,075,000
23,082,000

depletion and amortization............ (15,022,000)

(12,737,000)

(11,096,000)

Total capitalized costs ................
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Unevaluated 0il and Gas Properties

Costs directly associated with the acquisition and evaluation of unproved properties are
excluded from the amortization computation until they are evaluated. The following table
shows, by category of cost and date incurred, the unevaluated oil and gas property costs (net
of transfers to the full cost pool and sales proceeds) excluded from the amortization
computation:

Net Costs Incurred Unevaluated Properties
During Periods Ended: At October 31, 2005
October 31, 2005 .. i ittt e e e V. $ 2,415,000
October 31, 2004 ... . i e e e 709,000
October 31, 2003 ..t e e e s 234,000

= T < 84,000

£ 3,452,000

Unevaluated properties consist primarily of lease acquisition and maintenance costs.
Prospect leasing and acquisition normally requires one to two years and the subsequent
evaluation normally requires an additional one to two years.

Acquigition, Exploration and Development Costs Incurred

Years Ended October 31,

2005 2004 2003
Property acquisition costs net
of divestiture proceeds: .
Proved . v it e e $ 81,000 $ 526,000 S -
Unproved . .......oiiuiniiniieeeanan. 2,092,000 346,000 385,000
Exploration costs ......... .. 834,000 1,791,000 4,067,000
Development costs T I 4,170,000 3,926,000 822,000
Total before asset retirement
cbligation ................. ..., 57,177,000 S 6,589,000 $ 5,274,000
Total including asset retirement
obligation ............. ... $ 7.327.000 $ .. 7,089,000 S 5,440,000

Major Customers and Operating Region

The company operates exclusively within the United States. Except for cash investments, all

of the company's assets are employed in, and all its revenues are derived from, the oil and

gas industry. The company had sales in excess of 10% of total revenues to oil and gas

purchasers as follows: Duke Energy 40% in 2005, 40% in 2004, and 49% in 2003; Enogex, Inc.
% in 2005, 10% in 2004 and 10% in 2003.

0il and Gas Reserve Data (Unaudited)

Independent petroleum engineers estimated proved reserves for the company's properties which
represented approximately 63% in 2005, 61% in 2004, and 64% in 2003 of total estimated future
net revenues. The remaining reserves were estimated by the company. Reserve definitions and
pricing requirements prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission were used. The
detexrminaticn of oil and gas reserve quantities involves numerous estimates which are highly
complex and interpretive. The estimates are subject to continuing re-evaluation and reserve
quantities may change as additional information becomes available. Estimated values of proved
reserves were computed by applying prices in effect at October 31 of the indicated year. The
average price used was $55.59, $50.43 and $28.64 per barrel for oil and $10.26, $5.84, and
$3.99 per Mcf for gas in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. Estimated future costs were
calculated assuming continuation of costs and economic conditions at the reporting date.
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Total estimated proved reserves and the changes therein are set forth below for the

indicated year.

2005 2004 2003
Gag (Mcf) 0il (bbls) Gas Mcf) 01l (bbls) Gas (Mcf) ©0il (bbls)
Proved reserves:
Balance, November 1....... 15,273,000 407,000 13,786,000 385,000 9,415,000 337,000
Revisions of
previous estimates...... (889,000) (6,000) 68,000 39,000 (220,000) 35,000
Extensions and
discoveries............. 2,962,000 22,000 2,999,000 23,000 5,867,000 51,000
Purchases of
regserves in place....... - - 130,000 1,000 178,000 -
Sales of reserves
in place................ - - - - {5,000) (3,000)
Production................ (1,830,000) (37,000) (1,710,000} (41,000) (1,449,000) (35,000)
Balance, October 31....... 15,516,000 386,000 15,273,000 407,000 13,786,000 385,000
Proved develcped reserves:
Beginning of periocd....... 13,993,000 374,000 13,786,000 385,000 8,459,000 298,000
End of pericd............. 13,603,000 381.000 13,993,000 374,000 13,786,000 385,000

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows from reserves is set forth below

as of October 31 of the indicated year.

Future cash inflows.....................

Future production and

development COStS........ i
Future income tax exXpense...............
Future net cash flows...................
10% discount factor...... ...

Standardized measure of

discounted future net cash flows.......

2005 2004 2003
... $ 180,726,000 $ 109,703,000 S 66,043,000
e (43,848,000) (32,081,000) (20,878,000)
- (36,054,000) (19,965,000) (11,094,000)
Ca. 100,824,000 57,647,000 34,071,000
R (41,337,.000) (24 ,788,000) (12,930,000)

The principal sources of change in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash

flows from reserves are set forth below for the indicated year.

Balance, November 1.......... ..o

Sales of oil and gas produced,

net of production costs................

Net changes in prices and production

Extensions and discoveries, net of
future development and production

Changes in future development costs.....

Previously estimated development costs

incurred during the period.............

Revisions of previous quantity

estimates, timing, and other...........
Purchases of reserves in place..........
Sales of reserves in place..............
Accretion of discount...................
Net change in income taxes..............

Balance, QOctober 31...... ..
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2005 2004 2003
... $§ 32,859,000 21,141,000 $ 14,066,000
PN (10,384,000) (7,292,000) (5,886,000)
A 29,821,000 14,918,000 2,071,000
RPN 15,804,000 8,617,000 11,436,000
e (1,692,000) (224,000) (54,000)
e 2,248,000 304,000 467,000
AN (2,9862,000) (2,129,000) 77,000
A - 465,000 441,000
Ce - - (66,000)
Ce 3,286,000 2,114,000 1,407,000
A (9,453,000) (5,056,000) (2,818,000)
... § 59,487,000 32,859,000 s 21,141,000




(9) QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

The following is a tabulation of the company's unaudited quarterly operating results for
fiscal 2003, 2004 and 2005:

Fiscal 2003:

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Fiscal 2004:

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Fiscal 2005:

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Income Diluted
Before Basic Net Net
Total Income Net Income Income
Revenue Taxes Income Per Share Per Share
1,791,000 852,000 685,000 S 0.09 S 0.09
1,684,000 697,000 502,000 0.06 0.06
2,243,000 1,107,000 797,000 0.08 0.09
2,773,000 1,591,000 1,146,000 0.11 0.11
8,451,000 4,247,000 3,130,000 S 0.35 S Q.35
2,850,000 1,618,000 1,165,000 S 0.13 $ 0.12
2,273,000 1,092,000 786,000 0.08 0.08
2,439,000 1,120,000 806,000 0.09 0.09
2,752,000 1,240,000 893,000 0.10 0.10
10,314,000 5,070,000 3,650,000 s 0.490 S 0.39
2,606,000 1,263,000 $ 309,000 S 0.10 S 0.10
3,202,000 1,639,000 1,180,000 0.13 0.13
3,665,000 1,361,000 1,412,000 0.16 0.15
4,484,000 2,399,000 1,728,000 0.19 0.18
13,957,000 7,262,000 s 5,229,000 S 0.58 S 0.56
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

CREDO PETROLEUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
CREDO Petroleum Corporation and Subsidiaries

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of CREDO Petroleum Corporation and
subsidiaries as of October 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of
cperations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the pericd
ended October 31, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opiniocn on these financial statements based
on cour audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opiniomn.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of CREDO Petroleum Corporaticn and subsidiaries
as of October 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/ HEIN & ASSOCIATES LLP
HEIN & ASSOCIATIONS LLP

Denver, Colorado
January 6, 2006
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The effectiveness of our or any system of disclosure controls and procedures is subject to
certain limitations, including the exercise of judgment in designing, implementing and
evaluating the controls and procedures, the assumptions used in identifying the likelihood of
future events, and the inability to eliminate misconduct completely. As a result, there can
be no assurance that our disclosure controls and procedures will detect all errors or fraud.
By their nature, our or any system of disclosure controls and procedures can provide only
reasonable assurance regarding management's control objectives.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we evaluated the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the "Exchange Act") as of October 31, 2005. On the basis
of this review, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are designed, and are
effective, to give reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us
in reports that we file under the Exchange Act 1s recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and to ensure
that information required to be disclosed in the reports filed or submitted under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, in a manner that allows timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. There were no changes in the company's internal controls cover financial
reporting that occurred in the fourth fiscal quarter of 2005 that materially affected or were
reasonably likely to materially affect, its intermal control over financial reporting.

ITEM SB. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Pursuant to instruction G (3) to Form 10-K, Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 are omitted because
the company will file a definitive proxy statement (the "Proxy Statement") pursuant to
Regulation 144 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not later than 120 days after the
close of the fiscal year. The information required by such items will be included in the
Proxy Statement to be so filed for the company's annual meeting of sharehclders to be held on
or about March 23, 2006 and is hereby incorporated by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) (1) Financial Statements:
Consolidated Balance Sheets - October 31, 2005 and 2004
Consolidated Statements of Operations - Three Years ended October 31, 2005
Congolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity - Three Years ended
October 31, 2005
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Three Years ended October 31, 2005
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedules are omitted because of the absence of the conditions under which they are required
or because the information is included in the financial statements or notes to the financial
statements.

(b) Exhibits. The following exhibits are filed with or incorporated by reference
into this report on Form 10-K.

3(a) (1) Articles of Incorporation of CREDO Petroleum Corporation

& 4(a) (incorporated by reference to Form 10-K dated October 31, 1982).

3(a) (ii) Articles of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation, dated March 9, 1982
(incorporated by reference to Form 10-K dated October 31, 1982).

3(a) (1idi) Articles of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation, dated October 28, 1982
(incorporated by reference to Form 10-K dated October 31, 1982).

3(a) (iv) Articles of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation dated April 18, 1984
(incorporated by reference to Form 10-K dated October 31, 1984).

3(a) (v) Articles of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation dated April 18, 1984
(incorporated by reference to Form 10-K dated October 31, 1984).

3(a) (vi) Articles of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation dated April 2, 1985
(incorporated by reference to Form 10-K dated October 31, 1985).

3(a) (vii) Articles of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation dated March 25, 1986
(incorporated by reference to Form 10-K dated October 31, 1986).

3(a) (viii) Articles of Amendment of Articles of Incorporation dated March 24, 1988
{(incorporated by reference to Form 10-K dated October 31, 1989).

3(a) (ix) Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation dated May 11, 1990.

3(b) (1) By-Laws of CREDO Petroleum Corporation, as amended Octcber 30, 1986
(incorporated by reference to Form 10-K dated Cctober 31, 1986).

3(b) (ii) Amendment to Article X of CREDO Petroleum Corporation's By-Laws dated
March 24, 1988 (incorporated by reference to the company's definitive proxy
dated February 5, 1988).

4 (1) Shareholders' Rights Plan, dated April 11, 1989.

4(1i1) Amendment to Shareholders' Rights Plan, dated February 24, 1999 (incorporated
into Part II of the company's Form 10-QSB dated January 31, 1999).

10(a) CREDO Petroleum Corpcration Non-qualified Stock Option Plan, dated

January 13, 1981 (incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1
dated February 2, 1981).

10 (b) CREDO Petroleum Corporation Incentive Stock Option Plan, dated October 2, 1981
(incorporated by reference to the company's definitive proxy statement, dated
Jamuary 22, 1982).

10(c) Model of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement provided for by
Article X of CREDO Petroleum Corporation's By-Laws (incorporated by reference
to Form 10-K dated October 31, 1987).

10(d) CPC Exclusive License Agreement, dated September 1, 2000 (incorporated by
reference to Form 10-KSB dated October 31, 2000).
10 (e) CREDO Petrcleum Corpeoration 1997 Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated

effective October 25, 2001 (incorpcrated by reference to Form 10-KSB dated
October 31, 2001).
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4.1

21

23.1
31.1

31.2

32.1

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (incorporated by reference to Form 10-KSB
dated October 31, 2004).

CREDO Petroleum Corporation (a Colorado corporation) and its subsidiaries SECO
Energy Corporation (a Nevada corporation) and United Oil Corporation (an
Oklahoma corporation) are located at 1801 Broadway, Suite 900, Denver, CO
80202-3837.

Consent of Independent registered Public Accounting Firm dated January 6, 2006.

Certification by Chief Executive Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

Certification by Chief Financial Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

Certification by Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer under
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized in the City of Denver, State of Colorado on January 27, 2006.

CREDO PETROLEUM _CORPORATION
(Registrant)

By:/s/ James T. Huffman
James T. Huffman,
Chairman of the Board of Directors, President and Chief
Executive Officer

In accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates

indicated.
Date Signature Title
January 27, 2006 /8/ James T. Huffman Chairman of the Board
James T. Huffman of Directors, President,
Treasurer and Chief
Executive Officer
(Principal Executive
Officer)
January 27, 2006 /s/ David W. Vreeman Vice President and
David W. Vreeman Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and
Accounting Cfficer)
January 27, 2006 /s/ William N. Beach Director
William N. Beach
January 27, 2006 /s/ Clarence H. Brown Director
Clarence H. Brown
January 27, 2006 /s/ Oakley Hall Director
Oakley Hall
January 27, 2006 /s/ William F. Skewes Director, General Counsel
William F. Skewes
January 27, 2006 /s/ Richard B. Stevens Director
Richard B. Stevens
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Board of Directors and Corporate Information

Directors

William N. Beach
Independent Oil Operator
and President,

Beach Exploration, Inc.
Midland, Texas

Clarence H. Brown

Independent Businessman and

Petroleum Engineer
Westminster, Colorado

Oakley Hall

Retired Partner-PricewaterhouseCoopers
and Independent Businessman

Kingwood, Texas

James T. Huffman
Chairman and President of
the Company
Denver, Colcrado

William F. Skewes
Attorney
Denver, Colorado

Richard B. Stevens
Independent Businessman
and Oil Operator
Phoenix, Arizona

Director Emeritus

William D. Howell

Executive Officers

James T. Huffman
President

David W. Vreeman
Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and
Corporate Secretary

Corporate Counsel

Davis Graham & Stubbs LLP
Denver, Colorado

Hall, Estill, Hardwick, Gable,
Gordon & Nelson, P.C.
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma

Executive Offices

1801 Broadway, Suite 900

Denver, Colorado 80202

(303) 297-2200

Website: www.credopetroleum.com

Subsidiaries

SECO Energy Corporation
1801 Broadway, Suite 900
Denver, Colorado 80202

United Oil Corporation
1801 Broadway, Suite 900
Denver, Colorado 80202

Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

Hein & Associates LLP
Denver, Colorado

Registrar and Transfer Agent

Computershare Trust Company, Inc.
350 Indiana Street, Suite 800
Golden, Colorado 80401

Stock Exchange and Trading Range

NASDAQ Capital Market
NASDAQ Symbol: CRED

Market quotations shown below were reported
by the National Association of Securities Dealers,
Inc. and represent prices between dealers
excluding retail mark-up or commissions.

2005 2004
Fiscal Quarter
Ended High Low High Low
Jan. 31 $ 993 ¢ 821 §$ 9.00 ¢$ 7.14
April 30 11.29 9.00 11.11 7.99
July 31 11.99 9.15 12.53 9.34
Oct. 31 18.80 11.87 11.59 8.18

At January 20, 2006, the company had 2,752 share-
holders of record. The company has never paid a
dividend and does not expect to pay any dividends
in the foreseeable future. Earnings are reinvested
in business activities.




